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Corporate Directory 

The Directors present their report together with the consolidated financial report 

for the financial year ended 30 June 2025 and the review report thereon. 

Directors 

The Directors of Whitebark Energy Limited  at any time during or since the end of 

the financial year to the date of this report are: 

Mark Lindh                                           Chairman  

Giustino Guglielmo  Non-Executive Director  

Rosalind Archer                                   Non-Executive Director  

Richard King                                         Non-Executive Director (Appointed 6 May 25) 

Matthew White   Non-Executive Director (resigned 22 Aug 24)  

      

 

Company Secretary 

Kaitlin Smith 

 

 

Principal registered office in Australia  

 

 

Principle place of business in Australia 

Level 12, 50 Pirie Street  

Adelaide  SA  5000 

 

Level 12, 50 Pirie Street  

Adelaide  SA  5000 

  

Tel:  +61 8 8232 8800 

Auditors UHY Haines Norton 

Level 9, 1 York Street 

Sydney  NSW 2000 

Solicitors to the Company Steinepreis Paganin 

Level 4, The Read Buildings 

16 Milligan Street, Perth WA 6000 

 

Share Registry Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd 

Level 11, 172 St Georges Terrace 

Perth WA 6000 

 

Tel:  +61 3 9415 5000 

 

Bank ANZ Bank Ltd  

Stock exchange  Whitebark Energy Limited shares and  

options are listed on the Australian  

Securities Exchange (ASX: WBE) 

Company website www.whitebarkenergy.com 
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Chairman’s Message 
 
Dear Fellow Shareholders, 
 
The past financial year has seen shift for Whitebark in which we sharpened our strategic focus around building a high-impact 
position in South Australia’s Officer Basin (the Alinya Project, PEL 81 & PEL 253), through the acquisition of King Energy. That 
transaction also introduced Richard King to the Whitebark Board as a Non-Executive Director (appointed 7 May 2025), bringing 
Alinya-specific insight and deep commercial experience to our governance and execution. 
 
While we continue to advance geothermal initiatives and Warro Gas Field evaluation selectively, the Board’s priority is 
focussed on progressing Alinya, one of Australia’s most compelling onshore plays spanning natural hydrogen, helium and 
conventional hydrocarbons.  
 
Over the year we moved decisively to consolidate and de-risk Alinya. We launched field programs and technical studies 
designed to mature the Rickerscote prospect, one of Australia’s largest undrilled, seismically defined onshore sub-salt 
structures, towards drilling. In September we kicked off a soil geochemistry program deploying Axiom Sensing ‘IVY’ gas sensors 
and other equipment to test hydrogen, helium and hydrocarbon emission hotspots, an important low-cost validation step 
ahead of seismic and drilling.  
 
In the June quarter we also completed preliminary well design and a rig market evaluation with international consultancy 
Zenith Energy, confirming 2026 rig availability and supporting a cost-effective, staged drilling plan at Rickerscote. These 
activities form the backbone of our 2H26 drill schedule and keep us on a disciplined pathway from concept to well.  
 
To underpin this work, in February we secured firm commitments for a $2.0m placement (two-tranche structure) to fund 
geochemistry, 2D seismic over the Rickerscote and Milford prospects, planning for a farm-out engagement and working 
capital; shareholders subsequently approved the related resolutions at our April EGM.  
 
We have also achieved significant post-year-end developments, including independent expert reviews summarising 
prospective hydrocarbon volumes and confirming material hydrogen & helium prospectivity, and the Company exercised its 
option to lift ownership of the Alinya asset to 100%, giving full control of the Alinya permits. These are important steps that 
simplify decision-making and enhance farm-out flexibility as we progress toward drilling.  
 
At Warro we advanced compliance programs and continued technical work to re-evaluate producible zones and realign the 
asset to Western Australia’s net-zero trajectory, ensuring we preserve optionality in a tightening domestic gas market. Work 
during FY25 focused on meeting Retention Licence obligations and scoping practical energy solutions. Further emphasis will 
be placed on re-evaluating the producible gas zones to identify potential commercialisation pathways for FY26.  
 
We continued to rationalise non-core exposure in Canada. Following the FY24 sale of a 90% working interest in Wizard Lake 
(with Whitebark retaining 10% and a free-carry to restart), we maintained a modest, cash-generative stake through FY25 while 
prioritising capital toward Alinya. After year-end, Whitebark agreed to divest the remaining Canadian exposure, further 
simplifying the portfolio.  
 
During the June quarter we appointed Nikolaos Sykiotis as Chief Operating Officer to lead execution across geochemistry, 
seismic and drilling, complementing the Board’s existing technical depth. We finished with a cash balance of $0.94m cash at 
the end of FY25 and an approved capital framework to support near-term field programs. 
 
Our FY26 outlook is clear and focussed; we will complete surface geochemistry interpretation, progress 2D seismic planning 
and approvals, advance rig contracting, and pursue a value-accretive farm-out to support drilling at Rickerscote. With full 
control of the Alinya permits and a disciplined technical plan, we believe Whitebark is well placed to convert a differentiated 
geological thesis into tangible results.  
 
On behalf of the Board, thank you for your continued support as we execute our strategy. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
Mark Lindh 
Chairman 
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1. Review of Operations 

 

2024-2025 Officer Basin and 3H focus 

Overview 

Whitebark Energy Limited (ASX: WBE) continues its trajectory of growth and expansion in both its traditional oil and gas 

assets and its strategic pivot towards a 3H strategy, namely, exploring and producing naturally occurring hydrocarbons, 

hydrogen and helium. Whitebark is looking to identify and drill low-cost targets in Australia that have massive upside 

potential. The acquisition of King Energy in December 2024 aligns perfectly with this strategy and added 20,000 km2 to 

the company’s exploration position in Australia, in an area that has the capacity to generate and store significant 

volumes of all three commodities of interest.  

 

Officer Basin – Alinya project 

 The Alinya Project covers a vast area in the Officer Basin, SA. All the elements required for a working petroleum system 

have been proven in the Officer Basin from previous drilling or from outcrops.  

Rodinia acquired an expansive 2D seismic survey over the area (approximately 1500 line-km) and drilled two deep 

exploration wells to basement, Kutjara-1 (-2176 mTVD) and Mulyawara-1 (-2347 mTVD). These wells encountered 

strong hydrocarbon oil and gas shows throughout the sedimentary sequence and proved the existence of three reservoir 

seal pairs, with the two oldest (Emeroo Seal/Mulyawara Reservoir and Alynia Seal/Pindyin Reservoir) containing thick 

salt intervals. Salt is the most effective sealing lithology known and has been proven to contain significant hydrocarbon 

columns for millions of years in analogous basins around the world. Neither of these wells were drilled on valid 

structures. In contrast, the large Rickerscote Prospect has been mapped as a high side 3-way dip closure structure and 

will be the first structure drilled in the Officer Basin. Success at Rickerscote would prove the play fairway in this part of 

the Officer Basin and de-risks up to twenty follow up structures on PEL 81 for drilling. 

In addition to the hydrocarbon potential for Rickerscote, there is compelling evidence to suggest that Rickerscote could 

be filled with Hydrogen and/or Helium, particularly in the Mulyawara and Pindyin Reservoirs. There is proven evidence 

of Hydrogen and Helium generation in the Officer and surrounding basins. In the WA portion of the Officer Basin, 

multiple wells have encountered Hydrogen and Helium, including Kanpa-1, Lancer-1, Vines-1 and Empress-1. In the 

Amadeus Basin, Mt Kitty had hydrogen readings of up to 11.5% Hydrogen and 8.96% Helium in the peralkaline granitic 

Basement. Similarly, Magee-1 showed elevated Helium of 6.27%. Both these wells intersected a thick salt section but 

had a poorly developed reservoir sands on top of the basement. In the case of Rickerscote, the technical team predicts 

that there is between 26 m to 102 m of Net Pindyn Reservoir sands, directly overlying the granitic (Hiltaba suite?) 

basement and sealed by over 150m of Alinya Mudstone and then >150m of Alinya Salt. The Hiltaba suite underlies the 

Yorke Peninsula and is the most likely source rock for the Ramsay-1 and Ramsay-2 Hydrogen and Helium.  

The Company is currently reviewing the need for additional 2D seismic over Rickerscote and is evaluating the possibility 

of accelerating an exploration well.  

The Company plans to complete a soil gas survey on PELs 253 and 81 in September 2025 to fulfil the Permit Year 1 work 

programme. The survey will consist of deploying IVY Hydrogen sensors at several key locations over Rickerscote to 

detect the presence of gas. Helium will also be tested at the same sites and several local water bores will also be 

sampled. 

 

Western Australian Operations – Warro Gas Project (WBE 100%) 

The Warro gas field is located in Retention Lease 7, 200 kilometres north of Perth and is 100% owned by Whitebark. The 
project is ideally located just north of the large ~650 Terajoule per day Perth market and is 30km east of both the 
Dampier-Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline and the Dongara-Perth Parmelia Pipeline which gives full access to the 1,200 
Terajoule per day Western Australian gas market.  

Whitebark is assessing the possible conversion of some of the giant contingent resource at Warro into reserves for the 
benefit of the company and the community. Even recovering a modest volume of gas from this field would be significant 
for the Company. The review will focus on reassessing the historical well data, using modern technical methods.  The 
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technical team is working hard to better understand why the previous drilling campaign produced so much water and 
what can be done to suppress it downhole or manage it at surface.  

The Warro project continues to be in care and maintenance, awaiting the completion of the technical review and final 
Government guidance on the regulatory changes to be made to implement the recommendations of the Fracking 
Inquiry. The Board of Directors continues to assess the Warro Gas Project to determine whether it is to be retained or 
divested to focus on core projects. 

 

Queensland Geothermal 

Whitebark is progressing work on its Geothermal permits in Southwest Queensland and the Cooper Basin. The permits 
are in the early stages of evaluation and the business case for generating green hydrogen is being reviewed. Native Title 
discussions are scheduled to commence soon.This operational summary encapsulates Whitebark Energy’s 
achievements over the past year, positioning it at the forefront of Australia’s clean energy revolution while maintaining 
a robust and diverse energy portfolio. 

 

Climate Change 

The Company recognises climate-related risks and the need for these to be managed effectively particularly across the 
energy industry.  

Key climate-related risks and opportunities relevant to the Company’s operations include: 

• The transition to a low carbon economy through technological improvements and innovations that support a 
lower carbon energy efficient system with decreased demand and changing community sentiment for fossil fuels. In 
addition, there is increased time and cost associated with regulatory bodies granting approvals or licences on fossil fuel 
intensive projects. Transition to a lower carbon economy also gives rise to opportunity for the Company’s gas assets. 
Natural gas is viewed as a key element to supporting a sustainable energy transition.  

• Physical changes caused by climate change include increased severe weather events and chronic changes to 
weather patterns which may impact demand for energy and the Company’s production assets and production capability. 
These events could have a financial impact on the Company through increased operating costs, maintenance costs, 
revenue generation and sustainability of its production assets. 

• Policy changes by governments which may result in increasing regulation and costs which could have a material 
impact on the Company’s operations.  

The Company is committed to continually improve climate change related disclosures as processes and understanding 

of climate change related matters improve alongside the Company's activities and operations.  

Corporate 

Capital Raising 

On 1 July 2024, the Company announced a pro-rata non-renounceable entitlement issue of 1 share for every 3 shares 

held by shareholders at an issue price of $0.012 per share together with 1 free attaching new option to raise up to 

approximately $934,125 (before cost). The Company raised $56,877.80 and issued 4,739,817 ordinary shares to eligible 

shareholders at a price of $0.012 per ordinary share and 4,739,817 unlisted Options on before cost 20 August 2024. 

On 5 July 2024, 168,750 convertible notes have been converted to 14,062,499 ordinary fully paid shares. 300,000 

convertible notes were converted to 24,999,999 ordinary fully paid shares on 12 May 2025. 

On 30 January 2025, 41,530,833 unlisted Options were issued to institutional investors after receiving approval at the 

Annual General Meeting held on 29 November 2024. 

On 5 February 2025, the Company announced a two Tranche placement to raise $2,000,000 (before costs). On 14 

February 2025, 55,875,693 fully paid shares were issued from the completion of Tranche 1 of the placement raising 

$363,192 before costs.. On 14 May and 15 May 25, Tranche 2 of total of 231,195,071 fully paid ordinary shares were 

issued at a price of $0.0065 per share after receiving shareholder approval at an Extraordinary General Meeting on 16 

April 2025. On 16 May 2025, 12,929,234 fully paid ordinary shares were issued at a price of $0.0065 per share via debt 
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conversion as a part of tranche 2 of placement and total of 150,000,017 unlisted options were issued (exercisable at 

$0.015 on or before 15 May 2027). 

 

Off-market Take Over Offer 

On 20 December 2024, the Company entered into a bid implementation agreement to acquire King Energy Limited (King 

Energy) via an unanimously recommended off-market takeover offer. Under the implementation agreement, Whitebark 

will acquire all the issued securities of King Energy by way of separate off-market takeover offers for King Energy shares 

and options. The acquisition of King Energy will provide Whitebark with access to some of the largest seismically defined 

structures onshore Australia hosting the potential for significant prospective resources of naturally occurring hydrogen 

and helium, together with hydrocarbon prospectivity to fuel Australia’s energy future and security. 

The implied value of the acquisition is AUD$1,669,700 and allows existing and new shareholders in Whitebark significant 

exposure to value upside assuming successful exploitation of the asset portfolio. 

Under the Share Offer, Whitebark offered 100 million new Whitebark shares to acquire King Energy shares. Under the 

Option Offer Whitebark is offering 100 million new Whitebark options (exercisable at $0.05 on or before 31 March 

2030), to acquire King Energy options. 

The acquisition of King Energy by Whitebark Energy Limited presents significant strategic benefits, providing Whitebark 

with access to one of Australia’s largest onshore white hydrogen, helium, and hydrocarbon projects in the Officer Basin, 

South Australia.  

A Bidder’s Statement was lodged on 4 February 2025, the Company offered 1.6894072 new Whitebark Shares for every 

1 King Share and 3.3333333 new unquoted Whitebark Options for every 1 King Class A Option and 3.3333333 new 

unquoted Whitebark Options for every 1 King Class B Option. A Supplementary Bidder’s Statement was lodged with ASX 

on 14 February 2025 and a Target’s Statement was lodged with ASX on 21 February 2025. A second Supplementary 

Bidder’s Statement was lodged with ASX on 7 March 2025 and a Supplementary Target’s Statement was lodged with 

ASX on 11 March 2025. On 12 March 2025, the Company announced that Whitebark’s voting power in King Energy has 

risen above 90% and the offers were declared unconditional. On 8 April 2025, the Company commenced the process to 

compulsorily acquire the King Energy Securities. 91,697,620 fully paid ordinary shares and 94,941,036 unlisted options 

were issued on 11 April 2025. 8,302,435 fully paid ordinary shares and 5,059,007 unlisted options were issued on 9 May 

2025. 
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1 Directors’ Report 

1.1  Directors’ Meetings 

Board meetings held during the year and the number of meetings attended by each Director was as follows: 
 

Board of Directors 
Director Present Eligible to attend 

Mark Lindh 8 9 

Giustino Guglielmo 9 9 

Rosalind Archer 9 9 

Richard King* 1 1 

Matthew White** 2 2 

  * Mr Richard King was appointed on 6 May 2025 

* Mr Matthew White resigned on 22 August 2024 

   

Board and Management Committees 

In view of the current composition of the Board (which comprises a non-executive chairman and three non-executive 

directors) and the nature and scale of the Company’s activities, the Board has considered that establishing formally 

constituted committees for audit, board nominations, remuneration and general management functions would 

contribute little to its effective management.  

 

1.2 Corporate Governance 

In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors of Whitebark 

Energy Limited support the principles of sound corporate governance.  The Board recognises the recommendations of 

the Australian Securities Exchange Corporate Governance Council and considers that the Company is in compliance with 

those guidelines which are of importance to the commercial operation of a junior listed resource Company.  During the 

financial year, shareholders continued to receive the benefit of an efficient and cost-effective corporate governance 

policy for the Company.  

 

1.3 Directors’ Information 
 

Mark Lindh| Non-executive Chairman 

Appointed 12 January 2024 
 

Experience and expertise: 

Mark is a founder and principal of AE Advisors, an investment house established in 2006. Mark is a corporate advisor 

with significant experience in advising predominantly listed companies encompassing a range of industries including 

technology, energy, resources, infrastructure and utilities. He has acted as the principal corporate and financial advisor 

to a number of Australian corporate success stories and has extensive experience in Australian equity and debt markets 

and advising clients on capital raisings, mergers and acquisitions and investor relations. 
 
Other ASX Directorships in the last 3 years: 

Aerometrex Ltd appointed May 2019 (current) 
Bass Oil Ltd appointed December 2014 (current) 
Maggie Beer Holdings Limited appointed 13 January 2025 (current) 
Advanced Braking Technology Ltd resigned in November 2022 
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Giustino (Tino) Guglielmo B. Eng | Non-executive Director 
Appointed 8 July 2021 

 

Experience and expertise:  

Mr Guglielmo is a Petroleum Engineer with over 40 years of technical, managerial and senior executive experience in 

Australia and internationally. Mr Guglielmo was the CEO and Managing Director of two ASX listed companies; Stuart 

Petroleum Limited for seven years and Ambassador Oil & Gas Limited for three years.  Mr Guglielmo has also worked at 

Santos Limited, Delhi Petroleum Limited, and internationally with NYSE listed Schlumberger Corp. His experience spans 

the Cooper basin, Timor Sea, Gippsland basin, and exposure to US land and other international basins. Mr Guglielmo 

was a member of the Resources and Infrastructure Task Force and the Minerals and Energy Advisory Council, both South 

Australian Government advisory bodies. He is a Fellow of the Institution of Engineers, Australia, a member of the Society 

of Petroleum Engineers and Australian Institute of Company Directors.  
 

Other ASX Directorships in the last 3 years: 

Appointed Managing Director of Bass Oil Limited 1 February 2017 (current) previously Executive Director (Appointed 
16 December 2014) 

 
 

Prof. Rosalind Archer | Non-executive Director 
Appointed 17 June 2024 

 

Experience and expertise:  
Professor Archer has over 25+ years of executive and academic experience across Renewable Energy and Oil and Gas 
and is currently the Dean (Academic) of Griffith University and a Non-Executive Director at New Zealand Oil & Gas Ltd. 
Rosalind brings a wealth of knowledge and experience in geothermal energy and renewable technologies. In addition 
to her geothermal expertise, Rosalind's forward-thinking perspective on green hydrogen production supports 
Whitebark Energy's commitment to pioneering sustainable energy solutions. Her understanding of the hydrogen 
economy will be crucial in the Company’s plans to integrate hydrogen production into our existing geothermal energy 
portfolio and capitalise on the synergies between geothermal energy and green hydrogen production. 

 

Other ASX Directorships in the last 3 years: 

Echelon Resources Limited (ASX: ECH) appointed in November 2014 (current) 

 

Richard King | Non-executive Director 
Appointed 6 May 2025 

 

Experience and expertise:  
Richard has 30 years experience as a proven executive in E&P and the wider energy industry. An experienced business 
leader within Australia and internationally having held multiple advisory and leadership positions including with Duke 
Energy, Woodside, Chevron, KUFPEC and Otto Energy. He has been accountable for leading commercial and strategy 
teams in M&A, new ventures, product marketing, and in the commercialisation of LNG / Domestic Gas / Oil Projects 
/gas pipelines / and power generation. Richard is a founder of King Energy Ltd. 

 

Other ASX Directorships in the last 3 years: 

Nil 

 

Matthew White ACA, B. Accg | Non-executive Director 
Appointed 3 March 2021, resigned 22 August 2024 
 
Experience and expertise: 
Mr White has over 30 years’ experience as a Chartered Accountant and has a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy, 
Diploma in Financial Planning and a Diploma in Mortgage Broking. Mr White is the founder and sole director of 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



WHITEBARK ENERGY LIMITED – Director’s Report 

Page 9 

 

Business Initiatives Pty Ltd, an Adelaide based Chartered Accountancy and financial services firm. Mr White works in a 
client tax and business advisory role for small to medium sized businesses. 
 
Other ASX Directorships in the last 3 years: 
Aerometrex Limited appointed in September 2011 (current) 
 
 

Kaitlin Smith CA, FGIA, B. Com (Acc)|Company Secretary  
Appointed 11 June 2021 

 

Experience and expertise:  
Ms Kaitlin Smith was appointed to the position of Company Secretary on 11 June 2021. Ms Smith provides company 
secretarial and accounting services to various public and proprietary companies. She is a Chartered Accountant, a 
fellow member of the Governance Institute of Australia and holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting). 
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2 Remuneration Report (Audited) 

This Remuneration Report outlines the remuneration arrangements which were in place during the period and remain 

in place as at the date of this report, for the key management personnel of Whitebark Energy Limited.  For the purposes 

of this report, “key management personnel” is defined as persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive 

or otherwise) of the Company. 

2.1  Remuneration Policy  

Key management personnel remuneration is based on commercial rates and the existing level of activities in the Group 

at this point of time.  Should the extent of those activities change, the remuneration of key management personnel 

would be amended to reflect that change. 

2.2  Principles of Compensation  

Remuneration is referred to as compensation throughout this report. 

Under overall authority of the Board, key management personnel and other executives have authority and responsibility 

for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company and the consolidated entity.  Key management 

personnel include the most highly remunerated executives for the Company and the consolidated entity. 

Compensation levels for key management personnel of the Company and relevant key management personnel of the 

consolidated entity are competitively set to attract and retain appropriately qualified and experienced key management 

personnel. The Company from time to time obtains independent advice on the appropriateness of compensation 

packages of both the Company and consolidated entity given trends in comparative companies both locally and 

internationally and the objectives of the Company’s compensation strategy.  For the year ended 30 June 2024 no 

independent advice has been obtained in relation to compensation packages. 

The compensation structures explained below are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward the 

achievement of strategic objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of creation of value for shareholders. The 

compensation structures take into account: 

The capability and experience of the key management personnel; 

The key management personnel’s ability to control the relevant assets’ performance; 

The amount of incentives within each key management person’s compensation. 

Compensation packages may include a mix of fixed and variable compensation and short and long-term performance-

based incentives. 

In addition to their salaries, the consolidated entity may also provide non-cash benefits to its key management 

personnel in the form of share-based payments. 

2.2.1.1 Fixed Compensation 

Fixed compensation consists of base compensation, which is calculated on a total cost basis and includes any Fringe 

Benefit Tax charges related to employee benefits. 

2.2.1.2 Performance-linked Compensation 

The Company currently has no performance-based remuneration built into key management personnel remuneration 

packages.  

2.2.1.3 Long-term Incentive 

The Company currently has long-term incentives built into key management personnel remuneration packages, 

specifically unlisted options in Whitebark Energy Limited.  

2.2.1.4 Service Contracts 
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On appointment to the Board, all non-executive directors enter into a service agreement with the Company in the form 

of a letter of appointment.  The letter summarises the terms, including compensation, relevant to the office of the 

director. 

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the executive directors and other non-director key management 

personnel are also formalised in service agreements.  Each of these agreements provide for the provision of bonuses, 

other benefits including health and superannuation, and participation in the issuance of options.  Other major provisions 

of the agreement relating to remuneration are set out below. 

Directors and key personnel Term of agreement Base fee or salary package Termination 
benefit 

Directors    

Mark Lindh 

Non-Executive Chairman  

On-going commencing 12 January 
2024 

$65,000 pa  Nil 

Giustino Guglielmo 

Non-Executive Director  

On-going commencing 8 July 2021 

 

$50,000 pa Nil 

 

Rosalind Archer 

Non-Executive Director 

On-going commencing 17 June 2024 $50,000 pa Nil 

 

Richard King 

Non-Executive Director 

 

On-going commencing 6 May 2025 $50,000 pa Nil 

 

Matthew White 

Non-Executive Director  

(resigned 22 August 2024) 

3 March 2021 – 22 August 2024 $50,000 pa Nil 

    

Executives    

Nikolaos Sykiotis 

Chief Operating Officer 

(appointed 26 May 2025) 

On-going commencing 26 May 2025 $200,000 pa Nil 

 

Non-Executive Directors 

Total compensation for all non-executive Directors is to be approved by the Company in general meeting as detailed in 

the Company’s Constitution.   
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3 Directors and Executive Officers’ Remuneration (Consolidated Entity)  

The following table sets out remuneration accrued (paid and unpaid) to Directors and key executive personnel of the 

Company and the consolidated entity during the reporting period: 

30 June 2025 

Salary and 

Fees 

AUD 

Cash 

Bonus 

 

 

 

Termina 

-tion 

payment 

Non-

cash 

Bonus 

Superann-

uation 

Share 

based 

payments Total 

Value of share-

based 

payments as a 

proportion of 

remuneration 

Performance 

related 

payments as a 

proportion of 

remuneration 

Non-Executive 

directors          

Mark Lindh 65,000 - - - - - 65,000 - - 

Giustino Guglielmo 50,000 - - - - - 50,000 - - 

Rosalind Archer 50,000 - - - - - 50,000 - - 

Richard King1 7,661 - - - - - 7,661 - - 

Matthew White2 8,333 - - - - - 8,333 - - 

Executive          

Nikolaos Sykiotis3 20,513 - - - 2,359 - 22,872 - - 

Total 201,507 - - - 2,359 - 203,866 - - 

         1: appointed 6 May 2025         

         2: resigned 22 August 2024         

         3: appointed 26 May 2025          

          

30 June 2024 

Salary and 

Fees 

AUD 

Cash 

Bonus 

 

 

 

Termina 

-tion 

payment 

Non-

cash 

Bonus 

Superann-

uation 

Share 

based 

payments Total 

Value of share-

based 

payments as a 

proportion of 

remuneration 

Performance 

related 

payments as a 

proportion of 

remuneration 

Non-Executive 

directors          

Mark Lindh1 32,500 - - - - 221,306 253,806 87.2% - 

Giustino Guglielmo 50,000 - - - - 147,538 197,538 74,7% - 

Rosalind Archer2 - - - - - - - - - 

Matthew White3 50,000 - - - - 147,538 197,538 74.7% - 

Duncan Gordon4 25,000 - - - - - 25,000 - - 

Executive          

Simon Brealey5 10,000 - - - - - 10,000 - - 

Total 167,500 - - - - 516,382 683,882   

         1: appointed 12 January 2024         

         2: appointed 17 June 2024         

         3: resigned 22 August 2024         
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         4: resigned 12 January 2024         

         5: departed 6 December 2023         

          

4 Equity Instruments 

4.1 Options Granted as Compensation 
There is no unlisted options were granted to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2025 (30 June 
2024: 35,000,000) 
 

4.2 Option Holdings of Key Management Personnel (Consolidated Entity) 

Details of options and rights held directly, indirectly, or beneficially by key management personnel and their related 

parties are as follows: 

Unlisted Options 

Balance at 

01-Jul-24 

Acquired 

during 

financial year 

Granted as 

Remuneratio

n 

Net other 

changes 

Balance at 

30-Jun-25 

Not 

Exercisable 

Non-Executive 

directors       

Mark Lindh 209,632 5,419,263 - (209,632) 5,419,263 - 

Giustino Guglielmo 10,250,000 -  (250,000) 10,000,000 - 

Rosalind Archer - - - - - - 

Richard King1 - 5,571,817 - - 5,571,817 - 

Matthew White2 10,000,000 - - (10,000,000) - - 

Executive       

Nikolaos Sykiotis3 - - - - - - 

Total 20,459,632 10,991,080 - (10,459,632) 20,991,080  

         1: appointed 6 May 2025 

         2: resigned 22 August 2024 

         3: appointed 26 May 2025  
 
419,263 listed options were held by Key management personnel and their related parties during the year ended 30 
June 2025. 
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4.3 Other Transactions of Key Management Personnel  

Details of equity instruments (other than options and rights) held directly, indirectly or beneficially by key management 

personnel and their related parties are as follows: 

Shares held in Whitebark Energy Ltd: 

Ordinary Shares 

Balance at 

 01-Jul-24 

Acquired during 

the financial 

year  

Granted as 

Remuneration 

Net other 

changes 

Balance at  

30-Jun-25 

Non-Executive 

directors      

Mark Lindh 1,257,788 419,263  15,625,000 17,302,051 

Giustino Guglielmo 3,633,320 - - 4,166,666 7,799,986 

Rosalind Archer - - - - - 

Richard King1 - 5,833,334 - - 5,833,334 

Matthew White2 6,496,667  - - (6,496,667) - 

Executive      

Nikolaos Sykiotis3 - - - - - 

Total 11,387,775 6,252,597 - 13,294,999 30,935,371 

         1: appointed 6 May 2025 

         2: resigned 22 August 2024 

         3: appointed 26 May 2025  

The aggregate amounts recognised during the year relating to directors’ related parties (included in table below) were 
as follows: 

 

 Transactions during the year Balance outstanding as at: 

 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 

Adelaide Equity Partners Ltd(i) 116,595 97,562 5,500 29,619 

AE Administrative Services Pty 

Ltd(ii) 120,018 84,403 11,000 18,704 

Business Initiatives Pty Ltd(iii) 32,291 122,859 163,029 222,928 

Marbel Capital Pty Ltd(iv) 65,000 - - - 

 333,904 304,824 179,529 271,251 

     

(i) Adelaide Equity Partners Ltd is a company controlled by a close family member of Mr Mark Lindh. Mr Lindh is a director of Adelaide Equity 
Partners Ltd. The charges were in respect of investor relations services, capital raise services provided and expenses disbursement. 

(ii) AE Administrative Services Pty Ltd is a company controlled by a close family member of Mr Mark Lindh. Mr Lindh is not involved in the day to 
day management of AE Administrative Services Pty Ltd. The charges were in respect of company secretarial services, accounting and 
bookkeeping services provided. 

(iii) Business Initiatives Pty Ltd is a company controlled by Mr Matthew White. The charges were in respect of accounting, bookkeeping, financial 
control and director fees undertaken for the group. Mr White resigned on 22 August 2024. 

(iv) Marbel Capital Pty Ltd was a company controlled by a close family member of Mr Mark Lindh. The charges were in respect of director fees  
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5 Company Performance, Shareholder Wealth and Director and Executive 
Remuneration 

The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence between the shareholders, key management 

personnel, and other employees.  However, the Company continues to investigate alternative means for achieving this 

goal to the benefit of all stakeholders.  There is no direct relationship between the remuneration policy and Company 

performance.  

 

6 Voting and Comments Made at the Company’s 2024 Annual General Meeting 

The Company’s 2024 Annual General Meeting saw strong shareholder support for the adoption of the Remuneration 

Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2024, with 82% of votes cast in favour of the resolution.  

 

7 Use of Remuneration Consultants  

During the financial year ended 30 June 2025, the Company did not engage remuneration consultants to review its 

existing remuneration policies and provide recommendations on how to improve both the short-term incentives (‘STI’) 

program and long-term incentives (‘LTI’) program. 

End of Audited Remuneration Report  

 

8 Principal Activities  

The principal activity of the consolidated entity during the course of the financial period was the production of oil and 

gas in Alberta, Canada, the evaluation of oil and gas exploration projects in Western Australia and development of 

hydrogen hub in Queensland. 

 

9 Results and Dividends 

The consolidated entity’s loss after tax attributable to members of the Company for the financial year ending 30 June 

2025 was $3,095,266 (30 June 2024 loss: $6,318,636). No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company during 

the period ended 30 June 2025. 

 

10 Financial Position 

The net liabilities of the consolidated entity at 30 June 2025 were $2,325,129 (net liabilities as of 30 June 2024: 

($2,801,746) of which $908,409 (30 June 2024: $335,701 ) represents cash and cash equivalents.   

During the financial year the company raised an amount of $1,678,622 (after costs) (2024: $975,352) from the issue of 

291,810,581 ordinary fully paid shares (2024: 67,380,783 ).   

 

11 Earnings / (Loss) Per Share 

The basic earnings/(loss) per share for continuing operations of the consolidated entity for the financial year ending 30 

June 2025 was (0.9620) cents loss per share (30 June 2024: 3.7886 cents loss per share).  

 

12 Events Subsequent to Reporting Date   

Wizard Lake  

On 17 September 2025, the Group announced that it had entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement pursuant to 
which Conflux Energy Corp acquired 100% Rex Energy Ltd and the remaining 10% Working Interest 
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Alinya Project 
 

On 26 August 2025, Whitebark issued 2,955,000 fully paid ordinary shares and 2,955,000 options (exercise price A$0.05, 

expiring 31 March 2030) to unrelated parties. These securities were issued in consideration for acquiring the additional 

30% interest in the Alinya Project, consistent with a prior announcement from 20 December 2024.  

Other than the above, no material matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which have 

significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations, results or state of affairs of the consolidated entity. 

 

13 Likely Developments and Expected Results 

There are no likely developments of which the directors are aware which could be expected to significantly affect the 

results of the Group’s operations in subsequent financial year not otherwise disclosed in the Principal Activities and 

Operating and Financial Review or the Significant Events after the Balance Date sections of the Directors’ Report.  

The Company continues to look for acquisition opportunities as they arise. 

 

14 Environmental Regulations 

The operations of the Group are subject to environmental regulation from four government bodies.   

The Australian assets are monitored under the laws of the State of Western Australia, State of South Australia and State 

of Queensland. The Group holds various environmental licenses and application issued under these laws, to regulate its 

exploration activities in Australia. These licenses include conditions and regulations in relation to specifying limits on 

discharges into the air, surface water and groundwater, rehabilitation of areas disturbed during the course of 

exploration activities and the storage of hazardous substances. All environmental performance obligations are 

monitored by the board of directors and subjected from time to time to Government agency audits and site inspections. 

There have been no material breaches of the Group’s licenses and all mining and exploration activities have been 

undertaken in compliance with the relevant environmental regulations. 

The Canadian assets are subject to regulation by the Alberta Energy Regulator (AER).  The AER ensures companies are 

prepared to meet their obligations at the end of a project’s life including environmental obligations. 

 

15 Directors and Executives Interests 

The interests of the Directors and Executives in the shares and options of the Company, as notified by the Directors to 

the ASX in accordance with S205G (1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report and including transactions 

since 30 June 2025 are as follows: 

 Ordinary Shares  Unlisted Options 

Non-Executive directors   

Mark Lindh* 17,302,051 5,419,263 

Giustino Guglielmo** 7,799,986 10,000,000 

Rosalind Archer - - 

Richard King*** 5,571,817 5,833,334 

Matthew White - - 
* Shares and unlisted options held in the name of Chesser Nominees Pty Ltd of which Mr Lindh is a Director. 

**Shares and Unlisted options held in the name of Miller Anderson Pty Ltd ATF Longhorn Ridge Superannuation account. Mr Guglielmo is Director of Miller Anderson Pty Ltd and sole 

beneficiary of Longhorn Ridge Superannuation account.  

*** Shares and Unlisted options held in the name of Dubwell Pty Ltde ATF Wexford Trust. Mr King is Director of Dubwell Pty and a beneficiary of Wexford Trust. 
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16 Share Options 

 16.1 Options Granted to Officers of the Company 

No unlisted options were granted to key management personnel of the company during the 2025 financial year (2024: 

35,000,000). 

No options have been granted to officers of the Company since the end of the financial year to the date of this Directors’ 

report. 

 16.2 Unissued shares under options 

As at the date of the report, there were 390,220,660 unlisted option on issue detailed as follows: 

Grant Date Exercisable Expiry Date Exercise price 
Number of options 

granted  

30-Nov-22 06-Dec-22 to 30-Nov-25 30-Nov-25 $0.15 600,000 

21-Mar-24 21-Mar-24 to 01-Jan-27 01-Jan-27 $0.03 25,849,950 

08-Mar-24 08-Mar-24 to 01-Jan-27 01-Jan-27 $0.03 12,500,000 

08-Mar-24 08-Mar-24 to 28-Mar-27 28-Mar-27 $0.03 45,000,000 

20-Aug-24 20-Aug-24 to 1-Jan-27 1-Jan-27  $0.03   4,739,817  

30-Jan-25 30-Jan-25 to 1-Jan-27 1-Jan-27  $0.03   41,530,833  

11-Apr-25 11-Apr-25 to 31-Mar-30 31-Mar-30  $0.05   94,941,036  

9-May-25 9-May-25 to 31-May-30 31-Mar-30  $0.05   5,059,007  

16-May-25 16-May-25 to 15-May-27 15-May-27  $0.015   150,000,017  

16-May-25 16-May-25 to 15-May-27 15-May-27  $0.015  10,000,000  

Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue of the Company.  

 

 16.3 Shares Issued on Exercise of Options 

No shares were issued on the exercise of unlisted options during the financial year. 12,998,189 unlisted options were 

expired without exercise during the year. 

 

17 Indemnification and Insurance of Officers and Auditors 

 17.1 Indemnification 

An indemnity agreement has been entered into with each of the Directors and Company Secretary of the Company 

named earlier in this report. Under the agreement, the Company has agreed to indemnify those officers against any 

claim or for any expenses or costs which may arise as a result of work performed in their respective capacities to the 

extent permitted by law. There is no monetary limit to the extent of this indemnity.   

 17.2 Insurance Premiums 

During the financial year the Company did not paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors’ and Officers’ liability 

and legal expenses’ insurance contracts, for current Directors and Officers.   

There were no legal proceedings entered into on behalf of the Company or the consolidated entity by any of the 

Directors or Executive Officers of the Company. 

The Group has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, 

indemnified or agreed to indemnify any current or former officer or auditor of the Group against a liability incurred as 

such by an officer or auditor. 
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18 Corporate Structure 

Whitebark Energy Limited is a Company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  The Company 

is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange under ticker code WBE. 

 

19 Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

The Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration is set out on page 19 and forms part of the Directors’ report for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2025.  

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.  

Adelaide, 30 September 2025 

 

 

 

Mark Lindh 

Chairman 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001  
 
To the Directors of Whitebark Energy Limited  
 
As auditor for the audit of Whitebark Energy Limited for the year ended 30 June 2025, I declare that, to 
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:  
 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations 
Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and  
 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.  
 

 
This declaration is in respect of Whitebark Energy Limited and the entities it controlled during the year. 
 
 

 

 
  

Mark Nicholaeff   UHY Haines Norton 
Partner  
Sydney 

 Chartered Accountants 

Date: 30 September 2025   
   
 
 

 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 
 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Members of Whitebark Energy Limited 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 

Qualified Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial report of Whitebark Energy Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the 
Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025, the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of material accounting policies, the consolidated entity disclosure statement and the 
directors’ declaration. 
 
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our 
report the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 
 

i. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of its financial 
performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 
 

The Group's operations incur income tax consequences, including deferred taxes. The value of income tax 
benefit was recorded as nil on the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
and the value of King Energy accumulated carried forward losses of $0.5million, unrecognised tax losses of 
$12.2 million and unrecognised temporary differences of $0.2 million were disclosed in the notes for the year 
ended 30 June 2025. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the completeness 
and valuation of the Group's income tax balances because the Group was unable to substantiate its tax 
calculations. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. 
 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given 
to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this 
auditor’s report. 
 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
qualified opinion. 
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern  
 

We draw attention to Note 2 of the financial report, which discloses the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. The matters described in Note 2 of the Financial Report, indicate a material uncertainty that may 
cast doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, whether it will realise its 
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business, and at the amounts stated in the financial 
report. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 
Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. 
 
In addition to the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section and the Material Uncertainty 
Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit 
matters to be communicated in our report. 
 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the risk 
 
DECOMISSIONING LIABILITIES 
 
The Group’s decommissioning obligations results 
from its Retention lease R 7 interest in Warro Gas 
field. The total decommissioning obligation is 
determined based on the estimated costs to 
provide for the plug and abandonment (“P&A”) 
obligation. 
 
In addition, on 12 November 2024, the 
Department of Energy, Mines, Industry Regulation 
and Safety (DEMIRS) issued a written directive 
requiring that the P&A be completed by 4 
December 2026.  
 
As at 30 June 2025, the Group estimated the 
present value of the decommissioning obligations 
for the Retention Lease R 7 to be $3,945,390, 
representing 100% of the net present value of the 
total estimated P&A costs at Warro.  
 
There is a significant risk that the decommissioning 
provision may be materially understated and 
should be disclosed as a current liability. 

 
Our procedures included, amongst others: 
 
• Reviewed board meeting minutes regarding 

the P&A. 
• Obtained the government's notice regarding 

the P&A requirements. 
• Enquired of management the status of 

communication between the Group and Alcoa. 
• Obtained from management the meeting 

minutes of the 10 June 2025 with the WA 
Government (DEMIRS Division). 

• Enquired of management the plan for the P&A 
works and the timing of the works and 
discussed with a director. 

• Obtained and assessed the reasonableness of 
the rehabilitation calculations prepared by 
management. 

•  Assessed the appropriateness of the Group's 
assumptions used in the calculations. 

• Assessed the competence and independence 
of the Group's external experts who were 
responsible for the preparation of the 
estimated abandonment cost report for 
Warro. 
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the risk 
 
DECOMISSIONING LIABILITIES (continued) 
 

• Recalculated the present value of total 
estimated abandonment and rehabilitation 
costs, compared to book amount and raised 
adjustment. 

• Assessed the reasonability and completeness of 
the Group's financial statements disclosures for 
decommissioning liabilities. 

• Discussed with a director the timing of the P&A 
work and the processes to be completed prior to 
incurring external costs to perform the P&A 
work. 

• Obtained a current quote for performance of the 
P&A work. 

 
ACCOUNTING FOR THE DISPOSAL OF 90% 
WORKING INTEREST OF THE ASSETS OWNED BY 
REX ENERGY LTD (‘”REX ENERGY”), AND 
PROPOSED DISPOSAL OF THE REMAINING 10% 
WORKING INTEREST AND 100% OF REX ENERGY 
LTD 
 
On 31 May 2024, the Group entered into a Sale 
and Purchase Agreement with Conflux Energy 
Corp (“Conflux”) to dispose of 90% of its working 
interest in the Wizard Lake mining assets with 
certain conditions. 
 
At the same date, the Group entered into a Joint 
Operating Agreement, in which revenue and 
costs of production in Canada will be shared 
between Conflux and Rex in the ratio of 90%:10%. 
 
There is a risk that the Group does not properly 
account for and disclose their share of profit and 
loss as up to the date of settlement of the Sale 
and Purchase Agreement per the Operating 
Agreement, the disposal of the 90% Working 
Interest and the subsequent event disposal of 
100% of Rex Energy and the 10% Working 
Interest. 

 
Our procedures included, amongst others: 
 
• Obtained the results of the vote at the AGM 

agreeing to the disposal of the 90% Working 
Interest. 

• Obtained support evidencing that the disposal of 
the 90% Working Interest has been settled. 

• Obtained details and support for the production 
results for the Joint Venture from Conflux and 
agreed them to the accounting and disclosures 
in the financial report of Whitebark for the year. 

• Reviewed supporting documents relating to the 
sale of Rex Energy Ltd and the disposal of the 
remaining 10% Working Interest subsequent to 
year-end,and assessed the recoverable amount 
of the remaining 10% Working Interest as at 
year-end to determine whether there was any 
impairment at year end. 

• Evaluated whether the disposal after year end is 
appropriately disclosed in the financial report. 
Evaluated whether the disclosure of the 
production results, the completion of the 90% 
disposal and the subsequent event complies 
with the relevant accounting standards F
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the risk 
 
EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 
 
As a result of the acquisition of King Energy Limited 
and its controlled entities in April 2025, 
approximately $1.6 million has been capitalised to 
Exploration and Evaluation assets (“E&E assets”). 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets is considered a 
key audit matter due to the high carrying value of 
E&E assets as at 30 June 2025 relative to the net 
asset amount as of the same date. 

 
Our procedures included, amongst others: 
• Discussed with management the stage of 

exploration and the plan for ongoing E&E 
activities. 

• Inquired of management whether the 
conditions required under AASB 6. paragraph 
17, to reclassify to development assets had 
been met. 

• Obtained evidence that the Group had current 
rights to the tenure of its interest in the 
tenements. 

• Obtained the list of exploration and evaluation 
expenditures incurred during the year and 
vouched them to supporting documents. 

• Reviewed the nature of the expenditures to 
ascertain that the costs related to exploration 
activities. 

• Discussed with management the accounting 
policies for capitalizing or expensing 
exploration and evaluation expenditures. 

• Considered management's assessment of 
potential indicators of impairment and their 
reasonableness. 

• Considered the Group's intention to carry out 
significant ongoing exploration and evaluation 
activities, including reviewing the Group's 
cashflow forecast and inquiring of 
management about their intentions and 
strategy. 

• Assessed whether the accounting treatment 
was in line with Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

• Assessed the reasonableness and 
completeness of the Group's financial 
statement disclosures. 
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Other Information 
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2025 but does not include the financial 
report and our auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report and our related 
assurance opinion. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section 
above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about the completeness and valuation of 
the Group's income tax balances. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other 
information is materially misstated with respect to this matter. 
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of: 

 

a) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001;  
 

b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001; and 
 

c) for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of: 
 

i) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true 
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

ii) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of   
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 
financial report. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an 
opinion on the group financial report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of 
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for the audit 
opinion.   

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats 
or safeguards applied. 
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Report on the Remuneration Report 
 
Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 10 to 15 of the directors’ report for the year 
ended 30 June 2025. 
 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Whitebark Energy Limited for the year ended 30 June 2025, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Responsibilities 
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Mark Nicholaeff       UHY Haines Norton 
Partner       Chartered Accountants 
Sydney  
Date: 30 September 2025 
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 Note 

30 June 

2025 

30 June 

2024 

  $ $ 

Revenue  - - 

Royalties  - - 

Cost of goods sold  - - 

Gross Profit  - - 

    

Other income  - - 

Finance income 6 76,693 5,388 

Profit on disposal of assets  - - 

    

Expenses    

Administrative expenses 7 (361,654) (283,916) 

Finance costs/(income) 8 (171,915) (81,058) 

Share based payments expense   - (634,673) 

Decommissioning expenses 
16 & 

19 (1,696,518)  
(899,490) 

Other operating expenses 9 (810,555) - 

Loss before income tax expense from continuing operations  (2,963,949) (1,893,748) 

    

Income tax benefit 10 - - 

Loss before income tax expense from continuing operations  (2,963,949) 
(1,893,748) 

Loss from discontinued operation 5 (216,033) (4,339,292) 

Loss after income tax expense for the period  (3,179,982) (6,233,040) 

    

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax    

Items reclassified through profit and loss:    

Movement of foreign currency translation in change in equity  84,716 (85,596) 

Total comprehensive loss for the period  (3,095,266) (6,318,636) 

    

Profit attributable to shareholder of Whitebark Energy  (3,094,281)  (6,318,636) 

Profit attributable to non-controlling interest   (985) - 

Total comprehensive loss for the period  (3,095,266) (6,318,636) 
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The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes 

to the consolidated financial report.   

 

 cents                    Cents 

Loss per share from continuing operations (Basic)  (0.8966) (1.15) 

Loss per share from continuing operations (Diluted)  (0.8966) (1.15) 

    

Loss per share from continuing and discontinued operations 
(Basic) 

 (0.9620) (3.7886) 

Loss per share from continuing and discontinued operations 
(Diluted) 

11 (0.9620) (3.7886) 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



WHITEBARK ENERGY LIMITED – Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

For the year ended 30 June 2025 

Page 27 

 

 

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the  

notes to the consolidated financial report.   

 Note  30 June 2025 30 June 2024 

   $ $ 

Current assets     

   Cash and cash equivalents 12   908,409  335,701 

   Other current assets 13   16,722  2,401 

   Assets held for sale 14  - 3,242,090 

Total current assets   925,131 3,580,192 

Non-current assets     

   Exploration and evaluation  16  1,805,162 - 

Total non-current assets   1,805,162 - 

Total assets   2,730,293 3,580,192 

     

Current liabilities     

   Trade and other payables 17   877,118  673,600 

   Borrowings 18   140,945  - 

   Convertible Notes 25    91,128 547,517 

   Financial liability at fair value through P&L   841 3,018,235 

Total current liabilities   1,110,032 4,239,352 

Non-current liabilities     

   Borrowings 18  - - 

   Decommissioning liabilities 19            3,945,390 2,142,586 

Total non-current liabilities   3,945,390 2,142,586 

     

Total liabilities   5,055,422 6,381,938 

Net Assets   (2,325,129) (2,801,746) 

Equity     

   Issued capital 20      78,301,982 76,016,289 

   Reserves 21  1,524,082 517,946 

   Convertible Notes 26  4,706 4,706 

   Equity classified as held for sale    -    8,663 

   Non-Controlling Interest   373,432 - 

   Accumulated losses   (82,529,331) (79,349,350) 

Total equity    (2,325,129) (2,801,746) 
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Share 

capital 

Conv
ertible 
notes 

 

Other 
Reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Share 
based 

payment 
reserve 

Non-
Controllin
g Interest 

Accumulate
d losses Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 
1 July 2024  76,016,289 4,706 216,181 (600,956) 911,383 - (79,349,350) (2,801,746) 

Loss for the 
period - 
King Energy 
(post-
acquisition)       (3,284) (3,284) 

Loss for the 
period – 
Whitebark       

 

(3,176,697)  (3,176,697)  

Other 
comprehen
sive loss for 
the period 
net of 
income tax  

Foreign 
currency 
translation    84,716  

 

 84,716 

Equity 
classified as 
held for 
sale   (8,663)   

 

 (8,663) 

Total 
comprehen
sive loss for 
the period   (8,663) 84,716  

 

(3,179,982) (3,103,929)  

Net 
proceeds 
from share 
issue, net 
of cost 1,678,623  

 

  

 

 1,678,622 

Convertible 
Notes 422,958  

 
  

 
 422,958 

King Energy 
Takeover 500,000  373,639   374,432  1,248,056 

Attaching 
option 
relates to 
capital raise (519,928)  519,928   

 

 - 

Share 
issued to 
offset with 
account 
payable 154,040     

 

 154,040 
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Share 

capital 

Conv
ertible 
notes 

 

Other 
Reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Share 
based 

payment 
reserve 

Non-
Controllin
g Interest 

Accumulate
d losses Total 

Options 
issued to 
director 
and Lead 
manager 50,000  

 

 27,854 

 

 77,854 

Balance at 
30 June 
2025 78,301,982 4,706 1,101,085 (516,240) 939,237 373,432 (82,529,331) (2,325,129) 

         

Balance at 
1 July 2023  74,963,695 - - (515,360) 97,556 

 
(73,116,309) 1,429,581 

Loss for the 
period - - - - - 

 
(6,233,041) (6,233,041) 

Other 
comprehen
sive loss for 
the period 
net of 
income tax  

Foreign 
currency 
translation - - - (85,596) - 

 

- (85,596) 

Equity 
classified as 
held for 
sale - - 8,663 - - 

 

- 8,663 

Total 
comprehen
sive loss for 
the period - - 8,663 (85,596) - 

 

(6,233,041) (6,309,973) 

Net 
proceeds 
from share 
issue, net 
of cost 756,196 - 

 

- - 

 

- 756,196 

Convertible 
Notes - 4,706 

 
- - 

 
- 4,706 

Shares 
issued to 
settle 
account 
payable 503,916 - 

 

-  

 

- 

 

 

 

503,916 

Attaching 
option 
relates to 
capital raise (207,518)  207,518   

 

 - 
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Share 

capital 

Conv
ertible 
notes 

 

Other 
Reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Share 
based 

payment 
reserve 

Non-
Controllin
g Interest 

Accumulate
d losses Total 

Options 
expired   

 

 (29,246) 

 

 

 

(29,246) 

Options 
issued to 
director 
and Lead 
manager   

 

 843,073 

 

 
843,073

  

Balance at 
30 June 
2024 76,016,289 4,706 216,181 (600,956) 911,383 

 

(79,349,350) (2,801,746) 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the  

notes to the consolidated financial report.
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30 June 

2025 

30 June 

 2024  

  $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers  134,517 676,017 

Payment for royalties on production revenue  (11,037) (105,760) 

Interest received  8,868 5,732 

Interest paid  (141) - 

Payment for production, suppliers and employees  (1,157,562) (1,599,835) 

    

Net cash flows used in operating activities 26 (1,025,354) (1,023,846) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payment for plant and equipment   - 

King Energy Takeover  $6,406 - 

Payments for exploration assets  (68,947) - 

    

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (62,541) - 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from share issue    1,852,838 927,350 

Cost of Capital  (166,512) - 

Convertible note cash receipt  - 325,000 

Repayment of borrowings  - (86,155) 

Convertible Note Redemption  (25,000) - 

    

Net cash flows from financing activities  1,661,326 1,166,195 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  573,431 142,349 

    

Cash at the beginning of the financial period 

 

335,701 195,008 

Effect of movement in exchange rates on cash held  (722) (1,656) 

Cash and cash equivalents at year end 12 908,409 335,701 

 

The consolidated statement of cashflows is to be read in conjunction with the  

notes to the consolidated financial report. 
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1 Reporting entity 
Whitebark Energy Limited (the ‘Company’) is domiciled and incorporated in Australia. The address of the Company’s 

registered office is Level 12, 50 Pirie, Adelaide SA  5000. 

The consolidated financial report of the consolidated entity for the period ended 30 June 2025 comprises the Company 

and its subsidiaries (the “consolidated entity” or “group”).  

The consolidated entity is involved in oil and gas exploration and production in Alberta, Canada and oil and gas exploration 

in Western Australia, development of hydrogen hub in Queensland and hydrocarbon, Hydrogen & Helium exploration in 

South Australia.  

The financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 30 September 2025. 

 

2 Basis of preparation 

(a) Statement of Compliance 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standards (‘AASBs’) (including Australian Accounting Interpretations), other authoritative pronouncements of 

the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001.  Australian Accounting Standards set 

out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in a financial report containing relevant and reliable 

information about transactions, events and conditions to which they apply. 

Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also comply with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Whitebark Energy Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. 

(b) Going concern 

The Group has incurred an operating loss after tax of $3,178,325 for the financial year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: 

Operating loss after tax of $6,233,040) and the net equity has moved from negative $2,801,746 as at 30 June 2024 to 

negative $2,325,129 as at 30 June 2025.  The operating cash burn rate for the financial year ended 30 June 2025 was 

$1,025,354 (2024: $1,023,846).  The cash balance as at 30 June 2025 was $908,409.  The above matters may give rise to 

a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  Therefore 

the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business at the amounts 

stated in the financial report.  However, the Directors believe that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 

due to the following mitigating factors in relation to the material uncertainty. 

The Directors have prepared detailed cash flow projections for the period of 12 months from the date of signing this 

Report.  The Group is dependent on funds received from R&D Refund, Government Grants, as well as capital raisings, 

licencing and commercial activities, and shareholders to continue to operate with enough cash on hand for the next 12 

months. The Group demonstrated its success in raising capital in current and previous years. The Directors remain 

confident that this can be repeated as required to support the Group’s continuing activities. As previously announced, 

the Group is now focusing on the commercialisation of its Australian Geothermal assets and Hydrogen assets.  Further, in 

the event of the Group not raising sufficient funds to meet its current cash flow forecasts, the Group will reduce its 

expenditure accordingly to be able to pay its debts as and when they are due.  

Consequently, the Group’s financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the 

realisation of assets and satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. The consolidated 

financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset 

amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern.  
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(c) Basis of measurement 

The financial report is prepared on the historical costs basis except for the following assets and liabilities that are stated 

at their fair value: financial instruments classified at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL). 

(d) Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional currency of the 

Company.  The functional currency of the Company’s United States of America subsidiary is USD and CAD for the Canadian 

subsidiary.  

The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which that entity operates. 

(e) Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of a financial report in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and 

liabilities, income and expenses.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 

various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of 

making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  

Actual results may differ from these estimates.  These accounting policies have been consistently applied by each entity 

in the consolidated group. 

(f) Decommissioning Liabilities  

The Company’s accounting policy for the recognition of rehabilitation provisions requires significant estimates including 

the magnitude of possible works for removal or treatment of waste materials and the extent of work required and the 

associated costs of rehabilitation work.  These uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure, different from the 

amounts currently provided. 

The provision recognised for each production well is periodically reviewed and updated based on the facts and 

circumstances available at the time.  Changes to the estimated future costs for operating sites are recognised in the 

balance sheet by adjusting the rehabilitation asset and provision. Refer Note 19 for further information 

(g) Going Concern - there are significant assumptions included determining whether the Group is a going concern 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other factors, including 

expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances. Refer to note 2b). 

(h) Assessment of impairment of assets held for sale  

Refer to note 14 for further information 
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3 Summary of accounting policies 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Parent Company and all of its subsidiaries as of 30 June 2025.   

The Parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary 

and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary.   

All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised gains and 

losses on transactions between Group companies.  Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed on 

consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a group perspective.  Amounts reported in the 

financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting 

policies adopted by the Group. 

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are recognised 

from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable. 

(b) Business combination 

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations in accordance with AASB 3.  The 

consideration transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date 

fair values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the fair 

value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement.  Acquisition costs are expensed as 

incurred. 

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless of whether 

they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition.  Assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values. 

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets.  It is calculated as the excess of the sum of 

(a) fair value of consideration transferred, (b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, and 

(c) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-date fair values of 

identifiable net assets.  If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated above, the excess amount 

(i.e. gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in profit or loss immediately. 

(c) Foreign currency 

(i) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to Australian 

dollars at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date.  Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised 

in profit and loss.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 

are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at 

the dates the fair value was determined. 

(ii) Financial statements of foreign operations 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are 

translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.  The revenues and expenses of 

foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at rates approximating to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 

dates of the transactions.  Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised in other comprehensive 

income in the foreign currency translation reserve of equity. 

(d) Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure in relation to separate areas of interest for which rights of tenure are current is 
carried forward as an asset in the statement of financial position where it is expected that the expenditure will be 
recovered through the successful development and exploitation of an area of interest, or by its sale; or exploration and 
evaluation activities are ongoing and have not yet progressed to a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the 
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting petroleum, gas, geothermal, hydrocarbons, hydrogen and 
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helium resources. Where a project or an area of interest has been abandoned, the expenditure incurred thereon is written 
off in the year in which the decision is made. 

Exploration and evaluation costs have also been capitalised where they are the result of an acquisition from a third party. 

The opportunity to capitalise internal costs may arise when internal resources can be directly attributable to developing 

the exploration and evaluation assets. When a decision to proceed to development is made, the exploration and 

evaluation costs capitalised to that area are transferred to well site properties in development. No depreciation or 

amortisation is expensed during the exploration and evaluation phase. All costs subsequently incurred to develop a well 

site prior to the start of operations within the area of interest are capitalised. These costs include expenditure to develop 

new segments within the area of interest, to define further prospective assets in existing areas of interest, to expand the 

capacity of a well site and to maintain production. 

The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of factors, 

including whether the consolidated entity decides to exploit the area itself, or, if not, whether it successfully recovers the 

related exploration and evaluation asset through sale. 

Factors that could impact future recoverability include the level of reserves and resources, future technological changes, 

cost of drilling and production, production rates, future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration 

obligations) and changes to commodity prices. 

(e) Reserve estimates 

Proved plus probable reserves are defined as the “best estimate” of quantities of oil, natural gas and related substances 

estimated to be commercially recoverable from known accumulations, from a given date forward based on drilling, 

geological, geophysical and engineering data, the use of established technology and specified economic conditions.  It is 

equally likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater than or less than the sum of the estimated 

proved plus probable reserves.  The estimates are made using all available geological and reservoir data as well as 

historical production data.  Estimates are reviewed as appropriate.  Revisions occur as a result of changes in prices, costs, 

fiscal regimes and reservoir performance or changes in the Company’s plans with respect to future development or 

operating practices. 

(f) Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs and decommissioning obligations 

Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs necessitated by exploration and evaluation activities are accrued at 

the time of those activities and treated as exploration and evaluation expenditure. 

Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations recognised include the costs of reclamation and subsequent 

monitoring of the environment. 

Costs are estimated on the basis of future assessed costs, current legal requirements and current technology, which are 

discounted to their present value. The present value of the costs is included as part of the cost of the exploration and 

evaluation asset or the property plant and equipment asset. Estimates are reassessed at least annually. Changes in 

estimates are dealt with prospectively, with any amounts that would have been written off or provided against under 

accounting policy for exploration and evaluation immediately written off. 

Amounts recorded for decommissioning obligations and the related accretion expense requires the use of estimates with 

respect to the amount and timing of decommissioning expenditures.  Actual costs and cash outflows can differ from 

estimates because of changes in laws and regulations, public expectations, market conditions, discovery and analysis of 

site conditions and changes in technology.  Other provisions are recognised in the period when it becomes probable that 

there will be future cash outflow. 

(g) Development expenditure 

Development expenditure represents the accumulated exploration, evaluation, land and development expenditure 

incurred by or on behalf of the Group in relation to areas of interest in which mining of hydrocarbon resource has 

commenced. 

When further development expenditure is incurred in respect of an asset after commencement of production, such 

expenditure is carried forward as part of the asset only when substantial future economic benefits are thereby 

established, otherwise such expenditure is classified as part of the cost of production. 
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Amortisation of costs is provided on the unit-of-production method with separate calculations being made for each 

hydrocarbon resource. The unit-of-production basis results in an amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the 

estimated recoverable reserves. In some circumstances, where conversion of resources into reserves is expected, some 

elements of resources may be included. Development and land expenditure still to be incurred in relation to the current 

reserves are included in the amortisation calculation. Where the life of the assets are shorter than the reserves life their 

costs are amortised based on the useful life of the assets. 

The estimated recoverable reserves and life of the development and the remaining useful life of each class of asset are 

reassessed at least annually.  Where there is a change in the reserves/resources amortisation rates are correspondingly 

adjusted. 

(h) Current assets held for sale 

Current assets are classified as assets held for sale and carried at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to 

sell if their carrying amount is recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. The 

assets are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for sale. Any impairment loss on initial 

classification and subsequent measurement is recognised as an expense. Any subsequent increase in fair value less costs 

to sell is recognised in profit or loss. 

(i) Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies 

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies are stated at cost less accumulated impairment 

losses in the Company’s balance sheet. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated 

companies, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the investment is taken to the 

income statement 

(j) Trade and other receivables 

Other receivables are recorded at amounts due less any allowance for doubtful debts. 

(k) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, short term bills and call deposits.  Cash equivalents include deposits 

and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  Bank overdrafts that are repayable on 

demand and form an integral part of the consolidated entity’s cash management are included as a component of cash 

and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flow. 

(l) Impairment of non-financial assets  

The carrying amounts of the consolidated entity’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 

balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset’s 

recoverable amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount.  Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less cost to sell. Impairment losses 

are recognised in the profit and loss. 

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets 

in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

Reversals of impairment 

Impairment losses are reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and there has 

been a change in the estimate used to determine the recoverable amount.   

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 

that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

(m) Share capital 

(i) Dividends 

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared. 

(ii) Transaction costs 
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Transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax 

benefit. 

(n) Earnings per share 

(i) Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding 

any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the financial year, adjusted for the bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 

the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 

weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 

ordinary shares. 

(o) Property, plant and equipment 

Buildings, IT equipment and other equipment (comprising fittings and furniture) are initially recognised at acquisition cost 

or manufacturing cost, including any costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the Group’s management.  Buildings, IT equipment 

and other equipment are subsequently measured using the cost model, cost less subsequent depreciation and 

impairment losses. 

Developed and producing assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  

Costs incurred subsequent to the determination of technical feasibility and commercial viability and the costs of replacing 

parts of property, plant and equipment are recognised as oil and natural gas interests when it is probable that future 

economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All 

other costs are recognised in expenses as incurred.  Such capitalised oil and gas interests generally represent costs 

incurred in developing proven and/or probable reserves and bringing on or enhancing production from such reserves.  

The carrying amount of any replaced or sold component is derecognised.  The costs of periodic servicing of property plant 

and equipment is recognised as an expense. 

(p) Depletion and depreciation 

The net carrying value of developed and producing assets are depleted using the unit of production method by reference 

to the ratio of production in the period to the related proven developed and undeveloped reserves, taking into account 

estimated future development costs necessary to bring those undeveloped reserves into production.  Future 

development costs are estimated taking into account the level of development required to produce the reserves.  These 

estimates are reviewed by independent reserve engineers on an annual basis. 

Proven and probable reserves are estimated using independent reserve engineer reports and represent the estimated 

quantities of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which geological, geophysical and engineering data demonstrate with 

a specified degree of certainty to be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs and which are considered 

commercially producible. 

In determining reserves for use in the depletion and impairment calculations, a BOE conversion ratio of six thousand cubic 

feet of natural gas (“Mcf”) to one barrel of oil (“bbl”) is used as an energy equivalency conversion method primarily 

applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead.  All BOE conversions in the 

reserve reports are derived by converting natural gas to oil in the ratio of six Mcf of gas to one barrel of oil. 

For other assets, depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis to write down the cost less estimated residual value 

of buildings, IT equipment and other equipment.  The following useful lives are applied: 

IT equipment:  4 years 

Other equipment:  4-5 years 

In the case of leasehold property, expected useful lives are determined by reference to the lesser of comparable owned 

assets useful lives and the lease term. 

Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least annually. 
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Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between the 

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognised in profit and loss.  

(q) Fair value measurement 

The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring basis, depending 

on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard.  

Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an orderly (i.e. 

unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at the measurement date.  

As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used to 

determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the specific asset 

or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or 

more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market 

data.  

To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset or liability (i.e. the 

market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability) or, in the absence of such a market, the 

most advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the reporting period (i.e. the market that maximises the 

receipts from the sale of the asset or minimises the payments made to transfer the liability, after taking into account 

transaction costs and transport costs).  

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s ability to use the asset 

in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use 

The fair value of liabilities and the entity’s own equity instruments (excluding those related to share-based payment 

arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in relation to the transfer of such financial 

instruments, by reference to observable market information where such instruments are held as assets.  Where this 

information is not available, other valuation techniques are adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective 

note to the financial statements. 

AASB 13 requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, which categorises fair value 

measurements into one of three possible levels based on the lowest level that an input that is significant to the 

measurement can be categorised into as follows: 

Level 1 – Measurements based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 

entity can access at the measurement date. 

Level 2 – Measurements based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3 – Measurements based on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation 

techniques.  These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data.  If all 

significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level 2.  If one or more 

significant inputs are not based on observable market date, the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 

The Group would change the categorisation within the fair value hierarchy only in the following circumstances: 

If a market that was previously considered active (Level 1) became inactive (Level 2 or Level 3) or vice versa; or 

If significant inputs that were previously unobservable (Level 3) became observable (Level 2) or vice versa. 

When a change in the categorisation occurs, the Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy 

(i.e. transfers into and out of each level of the fair value hierarchy) on the date the event or change in circumstances 

occurred. 

(r) Employee benefits 

As at balance date, the company had no employees and hence no entitlement provisions are accounted for. 
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(s) Provisions 

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the consolidated entity has a present, legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 

to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows 

at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, when appropriate, the risks 

specific to the liability. 

(t) Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing liabilities stated at cost and settled within 30 days. 

(u) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised when the control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer.  Determining the timing 

of the transfer of control requires judgement.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 

receivable, net of returns, trade allowances and duties and taxes paid. 

(i) Net Financial Income 

Net financial income comprises interest on borrowings calculated using the effective interest method, interest receivable 

on funds invested and dividend income.  

Interest income is recognised in the profit and loss as it accrues, using the effective interest method.  Dividend income is 

recognised in the profit and loss on the date the entity’s right to receive payments is established which in the case of 

quoted securities is the ex-dividend date.  

(ii) Sales revenue 

Revenue from the sale of oil and natural gas will be recorded when control of the goods or services transfer to the 

customer.  The transfer of control of oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids usually occurs at a point in time and coincides 

with title passing to the customer and the customer taking physical possession. Where there is variable consideration in 

calculating a transaction price, revenue will only be recognised if it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal 

will not subsequently occur.  

The core principles are supported by the following five steps: 

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with the customer; 

Step 2: Identify separate performance obligations in the contract; 

Step 3: Determine the transaction price; 

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to separate performance obligations; and 

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) each performance obligation is satisfied 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 

(v) Royalties  

Royalty expenses is recognised according to Royalty agreements. Royalty agreements that are based on production, sales, 

and other measures are recognised by reference to the underlying arrangements. 

(x) Income tax 

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated group. As a consequence, 

all members of the tax-consolidated group are taxed as a single entity. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group 

is Whitebark Energy Ltd. 

Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated using applicable 

income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at the end of the reporting period.  Included in the income tax 

benefit are research and development grants provided during the year. 

Current tax liabilities (assets) are therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant 

taxation authority. 
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Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the year 

as well as unused tax losses. 

Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited directly to equity instead of the profit or loss 

when the tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 

and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets also result where amounts have 

been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available.  No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable 

profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 

is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.  

Their measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of 

the related asset or liability. 

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is 

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised. 

Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and joint ventures, 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be 

controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future. 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended that net 

settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur.  Deferred tax assets 

and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists, the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to 

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where 

it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur 

in future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 

Amounts receivable from the Australian Tax Office in respect of research and development tax concession claims are 

recognised in the income statement at the time the claim is lodged and received with the Australian Tax Office. 

(y) Segment reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the consolidated entity that engages in business activities from which it may 

earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the 

consolidated entity’s other components. Based on the information used for internal reporting purposes by the chief 

operating decision maker, being the executive management that makes strategic decisions, at 30 June 2025 the group’s 

assets are in two reportable geographical segments being Australia and Canada.  

(z) Goods and services tax 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount 

of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of 

the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.  The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 

payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flow on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 

investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows. 

(aa) Financial instruments 

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated.  All other financial assets 

and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. 

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially 

measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or 

issue.  A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



WHITEBARK ENERGY LIMITED – Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2025 

Page 41 

 

Financial Assets 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; FVOCI – debt investment; FVOCI – 

equity investment; or FVTPL.  Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group 

changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the 

first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model. 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at 

FVTPL: – it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and – its 

contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal amount outstanding.   

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: – 

it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial 

assets; and – its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding.   

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present 

subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. All 

financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. This 

includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that 

otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

Financial assets – Business model assessment: 

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio 

level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The 

information considered includes:  

the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. These include whether 

management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, 

matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising 

cash flows through the sale of the assets;  

i. how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management; 

ii. the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business 
model) and how those risks are managed;  

iii. how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the 
assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and  

iv. the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and 
expectations about future sales activity.  

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered sales 

for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition of the asset. 

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are 

measured at FVTPL. 

Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group considers the 

contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that 

could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this 

assessment, the Group considers:  

i. contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 

ii. terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;  

iii. prepayment and extension features; and  
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iv. terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features).  

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the prepayment amount 

substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may include 

reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a 

discount or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that 

substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also 

include reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair 

value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition. 

Financial assets – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses:  

Financial assets at FVTPL - These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any 

interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.  

Financial assets at amortised cost - These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and 

impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. Debt 

investments at FVOCI - These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the 

effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net 

gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or 

loss.  

Equity investments at FVOCI - These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income 

in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains 

and losses are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

(ab) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss if they are: 

• held for trading, or 

• designated on initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 

A financial liability is held for trading if: 

• it is incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; 

• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together 

and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 

• it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a designated and effective hedging instrument). 

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Net 

gains or losses, including any interest or dividend expense, are recognised in profit or loss. 

Transaction costs related to financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are expensed as incurred. 

(ac) Leases 

Right-of-use assets 

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which 

comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or before the 

commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included in 

the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, 

and restoring the site or asset.  

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 

life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Group expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of 

the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted 

for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
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The Consolidated Entity has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term 

leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed to 

profit or loss as incurred. 

Lease liabilities 

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised at the present 

value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease 

or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Consolidated Entity’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments 

comprise of fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a 

rate, amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise 

of the option is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The variable lease payments that 

do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are remeasured 

if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; residual 

guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option or lease term extension and termination penalties. When a lease 

liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying 

amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down. 

(ad) Interest in other entities 

Under AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint 

ventures.  The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal 

structure of the joint arrangement.  A joint operation is a joint arrangement in which the parties with joint control have 

rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to that arrangement. 

The Group recognises its direct right to the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations and its share of 

any jointly held or incurred assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.  These have been incorporated in the financial 

statements under the appropriate headings. 

(ae) Share-based payment  

The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of 

the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using the Black-Scholes 

model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates 

and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. 

(af) Discontinued operations 

A discontinued operation is a component of the consolidated entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for 

sale and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single co-

ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a 

view to resale. The results of discontinued operations are presented separately on the face of the statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income. 

(ag) New and revised standards that are effective for these financial statements 

The Group has consistently applied the accounting policies to all periods presented in the financial statements. The Group 

has considered the implications of new and amended Accounting Standards applicable for annual reporting periods 

beginning after 1 July 2024 but determined that their application to the financial statements is either not relevant or not 

material. 

(ah) New standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 

mandatory, have not been early adopted by the consolidated entity for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2025. 

The consolidated entity has assessed the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations and 

noted there is no impact to the Group financial statements. 
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(ai) Business Combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on 

which control is transferred to the Group. 

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 

• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus 

• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; 

less 

• the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit and loss. The consideration 
transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are 
generally recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Transaction costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that 
the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred. 
 
Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration 
is classified as equity, it is not remeasured, and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit and loss. When share-based payment 
awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s 
awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement awards is included 
in measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination. 

This determination is based on the market-based value of the replacement awards compared with the market- based 

value of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement awards relate to past and/or future service. 

In determining the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired, the Group considers the existence of identifiable 
intangible assets such as brand names, trademarks, customer contracts and relationships and in process research and 
development intangible assets. Where material, these items are recognised separately from goodwill.  
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4 Segment reporting 

Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented is on the same 

basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM'). The CODM is responsible for the 

allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance. 

During the period the group operated in two business segments (two geographical areas) – exploration, development and 

production of oil and gas – Australia and Canada.  

The group has identified its operating segment based on the internal report that is reviewed and used by the Board of 

Directors (chief operating decision maker) in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources. 

 Australia Canada 
Total 

Segment Unallocated 
    
Consolidated 

30 June 2025 AUD AUD AUD AUD AUD 

      

Total sales revenue  - 1,677,762 1,677,762 - 1,677,762 

Royalties - (393,878) (393,878) - (393,878) 

Financial income 76,693 - 76,693 - 76,693 

Other income - - - - - 

Total revenue and other income  76,693 1,283,884 1,360,577 - 1,360,577 

      

Cost of production - (1,305,485) (1,305,485)  (1,305,485) 

Operating expenses - (58,074) (58,074)  (58,074) 

Segment result (2,963,949) (79,675) (3,043,624) - (3,043,624) 

Impairment of assets - (136,358) (136,358) - (136,358) 

Depletion, depreciation & amortisation - - - - - 

(Loss)/gain before income tax expense (2,963,949) (216,033) (3,179,982) - (3,179,982) 

      

Assets      

Total current assets 925,131 - 925,131 - 925,131 

Total non-current assets 1,805,162 - 1,805,162 - 1,805,162 

Total assets 2,730,293 - 2,643,920 - 2,643,920 

      

Liabilities      

Total current liabilities 1,109,191 841 1,110,032 - 1,110,032 

Total non-current liabilities 3,945,390 - 3,945,390 - 3,945,390 

Total liabilities 5,054,581 841 5,055,422 - 5,055,422 
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5 Discontinued operation 

In November 2023, the Company announced it had entered into a formal process to explore the monetisation of all or 

part of the wholly owned Wizard Lake assets held by its wholly owned Canadian subsidiary company, Rex Energy Ltd. On 

14 June 2024, the Company announced it has executed a Purchase and Sale Agreement which will allow Conflux Energy 

Corp. to purchase a 90% interest in the Wizard Lake assets. The transaction was approved by shareholders at the 2024 

Annual General Meeting. The subsidiary was reported in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2025 as a 

discontinued operation. The arrangements concluded on 28 February 2025. The discontinued operations segment 

recorded a loss after tax of $216,033 (2024: -$4,339,292 ). 

Financial information relating to the discontinued operation for the period to the date of disposal and for subsequent 

adjustments to contingent consideration is set out below. 

  30 - Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD 
Revenue  1,677,762 450,789 
Royalties  (393,878) (105,760) 
Cost of goods sold  (1,305,485) (772,484) 

Gross (Loss)/Profit  (21,601) (427,455) 
    
Expenses    
   Administrative expenses  (58,074) (154,770) 
   Finance costs  - (56,114) 
   Loss on remeasurement of AHFS assets to FVLCS  - (3,274,431) 
   Depletion, depreciation and amortisation  - (264,890) 
   Other operating expenses  - (161,631) 
   Loss of the settlement  (136,358) - 

Loss before income tax expense from discontinuing 
operations 

 (216,033) (4,339,292) 

    
Income tax benefit   - 

Loss after income tax expense from discontinuing 
operations 

 (216,033) (4,339,292) 

    
Other comprehensive loss from discontinued operation    
Exchange differences on translation of discontinued 
operation 

 
- (85,596)  

    

Total comprehensive loss   (216,033) (4,424,887) 

    
   Cents 
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations  (0.0654) (2.6353) 
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations  (0.0654) (2.6353)  
    
Net cash outflow from ordinary activities  (126,433) (164,405) 
Net cash outflow from investing activities  - - 
Net cash outflow from financing activities  - - 
    

6 Finance income 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD 
Impact of the convertible note modification   78,297  5,732 
Foreign currency gain  (1,604) (344)  

  76,693 5,388 
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7  Administration expenses 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD 
Director’s costs  (180,995) (157,500) 
Administration and finance support  (180,659) (121,151) 
General and administration  - (5,265) 

 
 (361,654) (283,916) 

8 Finance costs 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD 
Interest expense  (171,915) (81,058) 

  (171,915) (81,058) 

9 Other operating expenses 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD 
Project costs  (1,320) (157,196) 
Legal fees  (168,515) (81,617) 
Consultancy fees  (280,883) (254,737) 
Revision of Rehab and Abandonment provision  - (74,453) 
Employment Cost  (75,860) (165,154) 
Superannuation   (8,522) (18,167) 
Auditor remuneration  (107,298) (81,035) 
Share registry  (106,682) (58,203) 
Travel Expenses  (11,475) (8,927) 
Acquisition cost  (50,000) - 

  (810,555) (899,490) 

 

10 Income tax benefit 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD 
Current income tax expense / (benefit)  - - 
Aggregate income tax expense / (benefit)  - - 
    
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate  
Loss before income tax from continuing operations  (3,179,982) (6,233,041) 

Tax at statutory rate of 25% (2024: 25%)*  (794,996) (1,558,260)  
Adjustment for tax rate difference (Canada 23%)  - 86,891 

  (794,996) (1,471,369) 

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible / (taxable) in calculating 
taxable income: 

  

Share-based payments  - 158,668 
Impairment of property plant and equipment    

 

Waiver of trade receivables   
 

Waiver of trade payables   
 

Sundry items   
 

  (794,996) (1,312,701) 

Deferred tax asset on losses/(recouped) not recognised  421,865 1,116,721 
Deferred tax asset on temporary differences not recognised  373,131 195,980 

Income tax benefit  - - 
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* The tax rate is selected based on parent company's tax rate. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 

which the asset can be utilised. It is in the opinion of management of the Company that there will be no taxable profits 

generated in the near future and the deferred tax asset is not to be recognised. 

King Energy accumulated carried forward losses at 30 June 25 is $500,343. 

Tax losses  30-Jun-25 
AUD 

30-Jun-24  
AUD 

Unused Australian tax losses for which no deferred tax 
asset has been recognised  32,269,437 30,714,782 

Potential tax benefit @ 25.0%   8,067,359 7,678,696 

Unused Canadian tax losses for which no deferred tax asset 
has been recognised  17,934,213 20,621,139 

Potential tax benefit @ 23.0%   4,124,869 4,742,862 

Total tax effected  12,192,228 12,421,558 

 

Unrecognised temporary differences    
Accrued expenses  19,827 94,905 
Blackhole expenditure  132,541 59,348 
Property, plant and equipment  - (24,048) 
Provisions  8,895 558,728 
Prepayments  (2,401) (552) 
Impairment of PPE due to disposal of 90% interest  - 958,559 
Unrealised foreign exchange gain/(loss)  - - 

Total tax effected  158,862 1,646,940 

11 Loss per share 

The calculation of basic loss per share at 30 June 2025 of 0.9620 cents per share (30 June 2024 basic loss: 3.7886 cents 

per share) was based on the loss attributable to the ordinary shareholders of $3,179,982 (30 June 2024 loss: $6,233,041) 

and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 30 June 2025 of 330,560,206 (30 

June 2024: 164,522,679  shares) being calculated as follows: 

  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD 
Loss per share    
Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders    
Loss for the period  (3,179,982) (6,233,041) 
Attributed to:    
Members of the parent entity  (3,179,982) (6,233,041)  
    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares    
Issued Ordinary Shares at 1 July  233,531,155 7,339,660,861 
Effect of shares issued  453,802,368 17,729,462 
Effective of share consolidation  - (7,192,867,644) 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year  330,560,206 164,522,679  

Loss – cents per share  (0.9620) (3.7886) 

Continuing operations (Basic and Diluted loss per share)  (0.9620) (3.7886) 

The potentially diluted loss per share in the future may be affected by the convertible notes. Refer to note 31. 168,750 

convertible notes were converted to 14,062,499 ordinary fully paid shares on 5 July 2024. 300,000 convertible notes were 

converted to 24,999,999 ordinary fully paid shares on 12 May 2025. 
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12 Cash and cash equivalents 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD 
Cash at bank  908,409 335,701  

  908,409 335,701  

 

13 Other current assets 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 

  AUD AUD 
    
Prepayments  - 195,363  
Other receivable  16,722 - 
Other current assets transferred to assets held for sale  - (192,962) 

  16,722 2,401 

                                                                                                                                                                                

14 Assets held for sale 
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale and measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs of disposal if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction. They are not depreciated or amortised. For an asset to be classified as held for sale, 
it must be available for immediate sale in its present condition and its sale must be highly probable. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to 
fair value less cost of disposal. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less cost of 
disposal of an asset (or disposal group) but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously 
recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal 
group) is recognised at the date of derecognition. In November 2023, the Company announced it had entered 
into a formal process to explore the monetisation of all or part of the wholly owned Wizard Lake assets held 
by its wholly owned Canadian subsidiary company, Rex Energy Ltd. The process resulted in a number of bids 
for the assets. On 14 June 2024, the Company announced it has executed a Purchase and Sale Agreement 
which will allow Conflux Energy Corp. to purchase a 90% interest in the Wizard Lake assets. The transaction 
was approved by shareholders at the 2024 Annual General Meeting. In Feb 2025, the Group completed the 
disposal of the 90% working interest in Wizard Lake Asset to Conflux. On 17 September 2025, the Group 
announced that it had entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement pursuant to which Conflux Energy Corp 
acquired 100% Rex Energy Ltd and the remaining 10% Working Interest. 
 
The table below details the individual assets and liabilities included with the disposal groups held for sale, 
including: 

• The initial net book values transferred into the disposal group 

• Any subsequent fair value adjustments, and/or other movements, between the date of transfer and 
settlement date. 

 
The value of the Wizard Lake assets have been revalued and impaired downwards in line with the highest of 
the third party, independent non-binding offers made. This revaluation is recorded in the Canada segment of 
the business.  
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30-Jun-24 

Other subsequent 
movements 28-Feb-25 

Assets in disposal groups as held for sale AUD AUD AUD 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,116 47,648 49,764 
Trade and other receivables - 170,559 170,559 
Prepayments and Deposits 192,962 (192,962) - 
Stock on Hand (Oil) - - - 
Property, plant and equipment, and Evaluation assets 2,722,803 (968,479) 1,754,324 

Total assets in disposal groups held for sale 2,917,881 (943,234) 1,974,647 

    
Liabilities in disposal groups as held for sale    
Trade and other payables 1,586,190 252,099 1,838,289 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 434,255 (434,255) - 
Decommissioning Liabilities Provision 897,436 (897,436) - 

Total liabilities in disposal groups as held for sale 2,917,881 (1,079,592) 1,838,289 

    

Total net liabilities in disposal groups as held for sale - - (136,358) 

    

Net proceeds   - 

    

Transaction costs   - 

    

Net Loss on disposal of assets (90% working interest)   (136,358) 

    
Movement of Asset held for sales - Net AUD 
Opening balance – 1 July 2024 223,855 
Offset equity (8,663) 
Disposal of 90% working interest (136,358) 
Discontinued operation loss (79,675) 
Reclassified to Financial liability at fair 
value through Profit and Loss 841 
Closing balance – 30 June 2025 - 

 

15 Property, plant and equipment 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD 
Plant and equipment at cost  89,886 6,450,300 
Accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortisation  (89,886) (575,886) 
Accumulated impairment  - (5,874,414) 
    

  - - 

    
Reconciliation of carrying amounts    
Developing and producing assets    
Opening balance  - 6,503,265 
Decrease in Decommissioning Costs  - -  
Transferred from Exploration and Evaluation assets  - 137,071 
Foreign exchange  - (126,093)  
Transfer to Assets held for Sale  - (3,242,090) 
Impairment   - (3,274,431)  
Amortisation  - (217,674)  
Depletion  - (47,216)  

  - - 
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16 Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD 
Exploration and evaluation assets - Accumulated cost  8,165,576 6,360,414 

Exploration and evaluation assets - Accumulated 
impairment  (6,360,414) (6,360,414) 

Exploration and evaluation assets - Net  1,805,162 - 

    
Movement in exploration and evaluation assets    
Opening balance  - 137,071 
E&E assets capitalised from King Energy acquisition (see note 
28) 

            1,723,409 - 

Capitalised decommissioning cost  1,696,518 - 
Impairment of capitalised decommissioning cost  (1,696,518) - 
Additions  60,025 - 
Transfer to Property, plant and equipment/Assets held for 
sale  

 
- (137,071) 

Capitalised employee cost after the acquisition   21,728  - 

  1,805,162 - 

Following review, no impairment was booked to exploration and evaluation assets for the 12 months ended 30 June 2025 

(30 June 2024: Nil). 
 

17 Trade and other payables 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD 
Current:    
Trade creditors  596,850 511,042 
Other payables  280,268 162,558 

  877,118 673,600 

All amounts are short-term.  The carrying value of trade payables and other payables are considered to be a reasonable 

approximation of fair value. 

 

18 Borrowings 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD  

   
Opening balance  - 498,625 
King Energy Short Term Loan – Current*  140,945 - 
Equipment Finance Lease – Non-current  - - 
Interest expense  - 8,613 
Foreign exchange loss  - 23,994 
Repayments  - (96,977) 
Transfer to liabilities held for sale  - (434,255) 

  140,945 - 

The carrying value of borrowings are considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

 

*At 30 June 2025, the Group had the following borrowings: 
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• $32,401.37 was provided by BXW Pty Ltd. Interest is payable at LIBOR+3% per annum, with repayments due on 
30 June 2025. The Group is currently in discussions with the lender regarding an extension of the repayment 
date. 

• $70,110.52 was provided by Giant Sky Asia Pacific Ltd. Interest is payable at 8% per annum, with repayments due 
on 30 April 2025. The Group is currently in discussions with the lender regarding an extension of the repayment 
date. 

• $38,432.92 was provided by Modena Ventures Pty Ltd. Interest is payable at LIBOR+3% per annum, with 
repayments due on 30 June 2025. The Group is currently in discussions with the lender regarding an extension 
of the repayment date. 

 

19 Decommissioning liabilities 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 

  AUD AUD 

Balance at the beginning of the period           2,142,586 3,061,705 

Additional provision at Warro Gas Field  1,696,518  78,671 

Unwinding of interest expenses  106,286  - 

Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale  - (997,790) 

Balance at the end of the period             3,945,390 2,142,586 

Decommissioning costs will be incurred by the Company at the end of the operating life of some of the Company’s facilities 
and properties. The Company assesses its decommissioning provision at each reporting date. The ultimate 
decommissioning costs are uncertain and cost estimates can vary in response to many factors, including changes to 
relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new restoration techniques or experience at other production sites. The 
expected timing, extent and amount of expense can also change. Therefore, significant estimates and assumptions are 
made in determining the provision for decommissioning. As a result, there could be significant adjustments to the 
provisions established which would affect future financial results.  

The Company’s decommissioning result from its ownership interest in oil and natural gas well sites and facilities. Total 

decommissioning obligation is estimated based on estimated costs to reclaim and abandon these wells and facilities and 

the estimated timing of costs to be incurred in future years. 

The provision at reporting date represents management’s best estimate of the present value of the future 
decommissioning costs required. Total decommissioning obligations transferred to Liabilities directly associated with 
assets held for sale was Nil. 

The Company has an obligation to commence plug, abandonment and remediation work for the Warro gas field including 

Warro wells 3, 4 ,5 and 6 (the Work).  This Work is linked to the current retention lease period which expires in December 

2026.  Undertaking the Work will require an aligned activity plan with the relevant Western Australian government 

departments responsible for petroleum permits, environmental approvals and safety approvals, the commencement and 

completion of environmental plan approvals, safety plans, and rig and equipment contracting.  Additionally, access to 

land as per the obligations set out in Section 20 of the Petroleum and Geothermal Energy Resources Act 1967 (WA) (PGER) 

states that it is a precondition to the commencement of any operations on private land for the title holder to enter into 

a compensation agreement with the private land owner before any work commences. The above is required to be 

completed prior to commencement of any field Work activities. Based on past industry and Company experience these 

activities have a long lead time and land access compensation activities may take 2-3 years.  The Company will use its own 

internal resources for the planning activities during 2025 and 2026, including identification of all regulatory approval 

requirements, market evaluations for availability of rigs and equipment, site planning, and land access discussions. No 

external resources or commitments associated with field work or contracting is likely to occur during this period. 

Subject to the Company being in good standing by the end of the current retention lease period there is the opportunity 

to apply for a renewal of retention lease for further 5 year period.  It is the view of the Company that any plug, 

abandonment and remediation work could be carried over into any subsequent retention lease periods thereby extending 

the period required to complete the Work.  Any future field evaluation will require re-entering exploration wells for the 
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purpose of obtaining new data and the Work would therefore need deferral to allow for these technical and commercial 

studies.  It is the Groups intention to apply for a retention lease renewal in the second half of 2026. 

The provision represents the present value of estimated costs of the remediation work that will be required to comply 

with environmental and legal obligations. Estimates are based on current cost assumptions, inflation, and expected timing 

of rehabilitation. At 30 June 2025, the provision was discounted using a pre-tax risk-free rate of 3.21%. 

 

20 Issued capital 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD 

Ordinary Shares 
 

78,301,982 76,016,289  

The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares.  The holders of ordinary shares 

are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. 

Reconciliation of movement in issued capital 
 

 Issued capital – Shares 30 June 2025 
30 June 2024  

30 June 2025 
30 June 2024 

 Number Number  AUD AUD 

Share capital      
Issued ordinary shares 

687,333,523 233,531,155   78,301,982 76,016,289 

      

Movements in issued capital      

Issued capital      

Opening balance 233,531,155   7,339,660,861   79,306,250   77,994,483  

50:1 Share Consolidation - (7,192,867,129)   -  -    

Conversion of Convertible Notes 39,062,498 -  422,958 - 

Issue of shares for cash 291,810,581  67,380,783     1,852,838  1,015,369  

Share issued to offset with account 
payable  

12,929,234 19,356,640  
 

 154,040 503,916  

King Energy Takeover 100,000,055 -   500,000  - 

Allocation between shares issued 
and attaching option 

-    (519,928) (207,518)  

Shares issued to advisor for service 10,000,000 -  50,000  

Closing balance issued capital    81,766,158  79,306,250  

Less share issue costs      

Opening balance    (3,289,961)  (3,030,788)  

Current period costs     (174,216) (259,173)  

Closing balance share issue costs    (3,464,177) (3,289,961) 

      

 687,333,523 233,531,155   78,301,982 76,016,289 
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21 Reserves 

  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 

  AUD AUD 

    

Share based payment reserve  939,237 911,383 

Other reserve  1,101,085 207,518 

Foreign currency translation reserve  (516,240) (600,956) 

   1,524,082 517,946 

Movement in reserves    

Share based payment reserve    

   Opening balance 1 July  911,383 97,556 

   Options issued during the period 27,854 843,073 

   Options (lapsed) during the period - (29,246) 

   Closing balance 30 June   939,237 911,383 

   

Foreign currency translation reserve    

   Opening balance 1 July  (600,956) (515,360)  

   Exchange gains/(losses) for the period  (1,657) (85,596)  

   Others 86,373  

   Closing balance 30 June   (516,240) (600,956)  

    

Other reserve    

   Opening balance 1 July   207,518 - 

   Allocation between shares issued and attaching option  519,928  

   Options issued - King acquisition  373,639 207,518 

   Closing balance 30 June   1,101,085 207,518 

 

Share based payments reserve 

The reserve represents the value of options issued under the compensation arrangement that the consolidated entity is 

required to include in the consolidated financial statements.   

This reserve will be reversed against share capital when the underlying options are exercised by the employee or 

consultant or expire.  No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the 

consolidated entity’s own equity instruments. 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 

of foreign operations where their functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the reporting entity. 
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22 Reconciliation of cash flow from operating activities 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 

  AUD AUD 

Cash flows used in operating activities    

Loss for the period  (3,179,982) (6,233,041)  
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation expense  - 264,890  
Impairment expenses  136,358 3,274,431  
Movement of provision for rehabilitation and abandonment   1,802,804 (74,453)  
Foreign exchange differences   - 
Share-based payment expenses  27,854 634,673  
Impact of modification convertible note  (69,429) - 
Interest expenses  60,999 137,172 

Operating loss before changes in working capital and 
provisions 

 (1,221,396) (1,996,328)  

    
(Increase)/Decrease in other receivables and prepayments  (14,321) 572,775  
(Increase)/decrease in inventories  - 306,345  
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables  210,363 (1,902,966)  

Net cash flows used in operating activities  (1,025,354) (1,023,846)  

    

23 Related Party Transactions 
Detailed disclosures relating to Directors and Key Management Personnel are set out in the Directors’ Report under the 

section entitled Remuneration Report. 

The totals of remunerations paid to Key Management Personnel of the Company and the consolidated entity during the 

year are as follows: 

  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
  AUD AUD 
Short-term KMP benefits  (203,866) (167,500) 
Share based payments  - (516,382) 

  (203,866) (683,882) 

The aggregate amounts (excluded director fee) recognised during the year relating to directors’ related parties and other 

related parties were as follows 

 Transactions value year end Balance outstanding at 
 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 
Adelaide Equity Partners Ltd(i) 116,595 97,562 5,500 29,619 
AE Administrative Services Pty 
Ltd(ii) 

120,018 84,403 11,000 18,704 

Business Initiatives Pty Ltd(iii) 32,291 122,859 163,029 222,928 
Marbel Capital Pty Ltd(iv) 65,000 - - - 

 333,904 304,824 179,529 271,251 

     
(i) Adelaide Equity Partners Ltd is a company controlled by a close family member of Mr Mark Lindh. Mr Lindh is a director of Adelaide Equity 

Partners Ltd. The charges were in respect of investor relations services and capital raise services provided. 

(ii) AE Administrative Services Pty Ltd is a company controlled by a close family member of Mr Mark Lindh. Mr Lindh is not involved in the day 

to day management of AE Administrative Services Pty  Ltd. The charges were in respect of company secretarial services, accounting and 

bookkeeping services provided. 

(iii) Business Initiatives Pty Ltd is a company controlled by Mr Matthew White. The charges were in respect of accounting, bookkeeping, 

financial control and director fees undertaken for the group. Mr White resigned on 22 August 2024. 

(iv) Marbel Capital Pty Ltd was a company controlled by a close family member of Mr Mark Lindh. The charges were in respect of director fees. 
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24 Share–based payments and options issued 
 

Options are granted to directors, employees, consultants and others. Entitlements to the options are exercisable as soon 

as they have vested and performance conditions have been met.  There are no cash settlement alternatives. Options 

granted carry no dividend or voting rights. 

 

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of any movements in share 

options relates to Share based payment issued during the year: 
 No. 2025 WAEP 2025 No. 2024 WAEP 2024 
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 96,948,139 0.0033 749,906,567 0.005 
Consolidation¹   (734,908,378)  
Granted during the year 306,270,710 0.03 83,349,950 0.03 
Exercised during the year -  

  

Lapsed/expired during the year (12,998,189) 0.20 (1,400,000) 0.20 

 390,220,660 0.03 96,948,139 0.0033 

No options vested and exercisable as at 30 June 2025 (2024: Nil).  

¹ Options were consolidated in accordance with fully paid ordinary shares with the exercise consolidated in the same 

manner.  

306,270,710 unlisted options were granted during the year ended 30 June 2025 and are detailed below; 

The outstanding balance of unlisted options over ordinary shares as at 30 June 2025 represented by: 

Unlisted Options 

Grant Date Vesting Date Expiry Date Exercise price  

Number of 
options 
granted 

Value of Share 
Based 

Payments  
 AUD 

30-Nov-221 06-Dec-22 30-Nov-25 $0.15 600,000 59,993 

21-Mar-242 21-Mar-24 01-Jan-27 $0.03 25,849,950 207,518 

08-Mar-243 08-Mar-24 01-Jan-27 $0.03 12,500,000 179,155 

08-Mar-244 08-Mar-24 28-Mar-27 $0.03 45,000,000 663,919 

20-Aug-245 20-Aug-24 1-Jan-27  $0.03   4,739,817  14,088 

30-Jan-25 30-Jan-25 1-Jan-27  $0.03   41,530,833  128,138 

11-Apr-25 11-Apr-25 31-Mar-30  $0.05   94,941,036  354,737 

9-May-25 9-May-25 31-Mar-30  $0.05   5,059,007  18,902 

16-May-25 16-May-25 15-May-27  $0.015   150,000,017  407,858 

16-May-25 16-May-25 15-May-27  $0.015  10,000,000  27,191 
1. Options granted to a lead manager during the year as part of service fees 
2. Options granted during the year as part of placement 1 offer 
3. Options granted during the year to Joint Lead Manger as part of service fees 
4. Options granted and approved by shareholders as incentive component to directors and supplier in FY24 
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The outstanding balance of unlisted options over ordinary shares as at 30 June 2024 represented by: 

Grant Date Vesting Date Expiry Date 

Exercise price – 
After 

consolidation 

Number of 
options 

granted – Pre-
consolidation 

Number of 
options 

granted – After 
- consolidation 

Value of Share 
Based 

Payments  
 AUD 

23-May-221 23-May-22 23-May-25 $0.20 624,906,567 12,498,189 - 

30-Nov-222 06-Jun-23 6-Dec-24 $0.20 25,000,000 500,000 68,310 

30-Nov-223 06-Dec-22 30-Nov-25 $0.15 30,000,000 600,000 59,993 

21-Mar-244 21-Mar-24 01-Jan-27 $0.03 - 25,849,950 207,518 

08-Mar-245 08-Mar-24 01-Jan-27 $0.03 - 12,500,000 179,155 

08-Mar-246 08-Mar-24 28-Mar-27 $0.03 - 45,000,000 663,919 
1. Options granted during the year as part of non-renounceable entitlement offer 
2. Options granted during and approved by shareholders as remuneration to a General Manager in Canada in FY23 
3. Options granted to a lead manager during the year as part of service fees 
4. Options granted during the year as part of placement 1 offer 
5. Options granted during the year to Joint Lead Manger as part of service fees 
6. Options granted and approved by shareholders as incentive component to directors and supplier in FY24 

 

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the unlisted share options outstanding as at 30 June 2025 is 3.03 

years. The exercise price for options outstanding at the end of the year is 600,000 at A$0.15, 129,620,600 at A$0.03 and 

100,000,043 at A$0.05, 160,000,017 at A$0.02 (2024: 12,498,189 at A$0.20, 500,000 at A$0.20 and 600,000 at A$0.15, 

25,849,950 at A$0.03, 12,500,000 at A$0.03 and 45,000,000 at A$0.03 ). 

During the reporting period, no unlisted options were exercised. 12,998,189.00 unlisted options lapsed without exercise. 

No expense has been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in 

respect of options vested during the year (2024: $265,534 ).  

For the options granted during the current financial year, the valuation model inputs used to determine the fair value at 

the grant date, are as follows:                

Grant date Expiry date Number of 
options 

Share price 
at grant date 

Exercise 
price 

Expected 
volatility 

Dividend 
yield 

Risk-free 
interest rate 

Fair value at 
grant date 

21/3/24 1/01/27        25,849,950  $0.019 $       0.030  130.02% - 3.70% $0.013 

8/03/24 1/01/27        12,500,000  $0.019 $       0.030  150.33% - 3.60% $0.014 

8/03/24 28/03/27        45,000,000  $0.019 $       0.030  150.33% - 3.60% $0.015 

20/08/24 1/01/27  4,739,817 $0.008  $       0.030  113.84% - 3.59% $0.00297 

30/01/25 1/01/27  41,530,833 $0.008  $       0.030  123.73% - 3.92% $0.00309 

11/04/25 31/03/30  94,941,036 $0.0055  $       0.050  147.11% - 3.47% $0.00374 

9/05/25 31/03/30  5,059,007 $0.005  $       0.050  147.11% - 3.47% $0.00374 

16/05/25 15/05/27  150,000,017  $0.005  $       0.015  149.36% - 3.55% $0.00272 

16/05/25 15/05/27  10,000,000 $0.005  $       0.015  149.36% - 3.55% $0.00272 

 

Listed Options 

No listed options were granted, exercised or cancelled during the period. 
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 25 Convertible Note - Current 

 

 30-Jun-25 
$  

30-Jun-24 
$ 

Opening Balance 1 July 547,517 - 

Convertible notes issued (net of costs) - 475,000 

Interest Expense 60,999 77,223 

Conversion  (422,958) - 

Impact of the modification (69,429)  

Redemption (25,000) - 

Recognition of equity component - (4,706) 

Balance 30 June 91,128 547,517 

 

The Company has issued to the face value of $331,250 Convertible Notes to professional and sophisticated investors, 

raising $265,000 (Capital Raising) in October 2023. The issue of Convertible Notes was approved by shareholders at the 

Annual General Meeting held on 29 November 2023. Each of the Convertible Notes carries a face value of $1.00. An 

interest rate equal to 20% per annum. The Noteholder may elect to convert the Convertible Notes into shares at the 

deemed conversion price of $0.025 per Convertible Note (conversion price was $0.0005 per Convertible Note prior to 

50:1 consolidation) at any time prior to 30 September 2025. On 22 March 2024, the Company also issued Convertible 

Notes to the face value of $75,000 to Directors, raising $60,000. The issue of Convertible Notes was approved by 

shareholders at the General Meeting held on 8 March 2024. On 2 October 2024, all Convertible Note holders agreed to 

extend the repayment date after 15 October 2025. Upon the occurrence of default, the Noteholder may require 

immediate redemption of all outstanding Convertible Notes and other outstanding moneys to be immediately due and 

payable to the Noteholder. The Convertible Notes were determined to be a compound financial instrument, resulting in 

a split between liability and equity components. The fair value of the liability component is determined based on the 

contractual future cash flows which is discounted at the rate of interest (21.76%) that would apply to an identical financial 

instrument without the conversion option. The extension of the maturity date is considered as a modification, the impact 

of the modification resulted as an income of $69,497 recorded in this period. 

On 23 October 2023, the Company also issued Convertible Notes to the face value of $187,500 to AE Advisors in lieu of 

advisory fees owing to AE Advisors for the period from January 2021 to September 2023 (AE Con Notes). The issue of 

Convertible Notes was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 29 November 2023. The terms 

and conditions of AE Con Notes are the same with above-mentioned convertible notes. 

On 5 July 2024, 168,750 Convertible Notes were converted to 14,062,499 Fully Ordinary shares and 300,000 Convertible 

Notes were converted to 24,999,999 Fully Ordinary shares on 12 May 2025. 

 

Convertible Notes 

Issue Date    23/10/2023 22/3/2024 

Face Value     $518,750 $75,000 

Maturity Date    12 months 12 months 

Conversion Price     $0.025  $0.025 
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26 Parent Company disclosures 
 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 

Current Assets 896,811  339,632  

Non-Current Assets 6,899,062  6,876,574  

Total Assets 7,795,873 7,216,206  

   

Current Liabilities 618,430 1,236,480  

Non-Current Liabilities -  -    

Total Liabilities 618,430 1,236,480  

   

Net Assets 7,177,443 5,979,726  

   

Contributed Equity 78,301,982 76,397,793  

Share based payments reserve 939,237 911,383  

Other reserve 1,101,085 212,224 

Accumulated losses (73,164,861) (71,541,675) 

Total Equity 7,177,443 5,979,726 

   

Results of Parent Entity for the year   

Profit / (loss) for the year (1,138,416) (1,421,888) 

Other Comprehensive income - - 

Total Comprehensive income (1,138,416) (1,421,888)  

 
The Company has no contingent liabilities or commitments and no guarantees due to subsidiaries at 30 June 2025. 
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27 Financial risk management and financial instruments 

Overview 

The consolidated entity has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• credit risk; 

• commodity risk; 

• currency risk; 

• liquidity risk;  

• market risk; and 

• climate change risk. 

The consolidated entity’s management of financial risk is aimed at ensuring net cash flows are sufficient to: 

Meet all its financial commitments; and 

Maintain the capacity to fund the consolidated entity’s operating activities. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework.  

Management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the consolidated entity through 

regular reviews of the risks. 

Market, liquidity and credit risk (including foreign exchange, commodity price and interest rate risk) arise in the normal 

course of business. These risks are managed under Board approved directives which underpin treasury practices and 

processes.  

This note presents information about the Company’s and consolidated entity’s exposure to each of the above risks, their 

objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.  

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the consolidated entity if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 

fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the consolidated entity’s receivables from customers 

and deposits with banks.   

Trade and other receivables 

As at 30 June 2025 there were no significant concentrations of credit risk on the statement of financial position.  Current 

trade receivables is nil at 30 June 2025.  The consolidated entity monitors receivable balances on an ongoing basis and as 

a result believes its exposure to bad debts is insignificant. 

Impairment losses 

None of the Company’s receivables are past due (2024: nil). As at 30 June 2025 there is no allowance for impairment in 

respect to other receivables for the consolidated entity (2024: nil).  

Exposure to credit risk 

The carrying amount of the consolidated entity’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The 

consolidated entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

Financial Instruments 

 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 

Trade and other receivables  - 
Cash and cash equivalents 908,409  335,701  

 908,409  335,701  
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The consolidated entity limits credit risk on its cash deposits by only transacting with high credit-rated financial 

institutions. 

 

Trade and 
other 

receivables 

Current assets 
Other 

investments 
(including 

derivatives) 
Cash and cash 

equivalents Total 
30 June 2025 
Financial assets measured at fair 
value     
Listed equity investments  - - - - 
Financial assets not measured at 
fair value     
Trade and other receivables - - - - 
Cash and cash equivalents - - 908,409 908,409 

 - - 908,409 908,409 

30 June 2024     
Financial assets measured at fair 
value    

 

Listed equity investments  - - - - 
Financial assets not measured at 
fair value    

 

Trade and other receivables - - - - 
Cash and cash equivalents - - 335,701 335,701 

 - - 335,701 335,701 

 

Commodity Risk 

The consolidated entity is exposed to commodity price risk through its revenue from the sale of hydrocarbons – gas, crude 

oil, condensate and LPG – which are priced against world benchmark commodity prices. 

The following table details the impact on revenue a 10% and 20% increase and decrease in the oil and gas price would 

have on current year revenue, using the entities average oil price over this year.  The below table shows the increase in 

profit and equity given an increase in oil price; there would be a negative impact to the Foreign Current Translation 

Reserve to the same degree if average oil price decreased by the same percentage. 

 Oil Price Impact 

 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 

Profit and Loss: 10% 16,004  34,503  
Profit and Loss: 20% 32,008  69,006  

 

Currency Risk   

The consolidated entity undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign 

currency risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations. 

The consolidated entity is exposed to Canadian dollars (CAD) in its Canadian operations. 

 

The following table details the Consolidated Entity’s sensitivity to a 10% and 20% increase and decrease in the CAD against 

the Australian dollar.  The sensitivity analysis is based on 30 June 2025 year end foreign currency denominated monetary 

items and adjusts their translation at year end for a 10% and 20% strengthening in foreign currency rates.  For a 10% and 

20% decrease in foreign currency rates, there would be a comparable impact on the profit and equity, and the balances 

below would be negative. 
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    Currency Movement Impact 

 2025 2024 

Profit or loss: 10% CAD 152,107 1,087,775  
Profit or loss: 20% CAD 146,071 1,766,159  

 
Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the consolidated entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 

consolidated entity’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 

liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable 

losses or risking damage to the consolidated entity’s reputation. 

The consolidated entity manages liquidity risks by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously monitoring forecast 

and actual cash flows. 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding 

the impact of netting agreements: 

30- Jun-2025 
Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

6 months or 
less 

6 to 12 
months 1-2 years 2-5 years 

Financial liabilities measured at 
fair value - - - - - 

 

Financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value      

 

Trade and other payables 877,118 877,118 877,118    

Convertible Note 91,128 91,128     

Borrowings 140,945 140,945 140,945 - - - 

30- Jun-2024 
Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

6 months or 
less 

6 to 12 
months 1-2 years 

2-5 years 

Financial liabilities measured at 
fair value - - - - - 

 

Financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value      

 

Trade and other payables 673,600 673,600 673,600 - -  

Borrowings 547,517 547,517 - - 547,517 - 

 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will 

affect the consolidated entity’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 

management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

 

Interest rate risk 

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Company’s and the consolidated entity’s interest-bearing financial 

instruments was: 

 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 

Variable rate Instruments   

Financial assets 908,409 335,701  

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or 

loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, 

remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2024. 
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 Profit or loss Equity 
 100bp increase 

AUD 
100bp decrease 

AUD 
100bp increase 

AUD 
100bp decrease 

AUD 

30-Jun-2025     

Variable rate instruments 90,841 (90,841) 90,841 (90,841) 

Cash flow sensitivity 90,841 (90,841) 90,841 (90,841) 

30-Jun-2024     

Variable rate instruments 3,357 (3,357) 3,357 (3,357) 

Cash flow sensitivity 3,357 (3,357) 3,357 (3,357) 

 

Climate change risk 

Key climate-related risks and opportunities relevant to the Company’s operations include: 

The transition to a low carbon economy through technological improvements and innovations that support a lower carbon 

energy efficient system with decreased demand and changing community sentiment for fossil fuels, increased uncertainty 

time and cost associated with regulatory bodies granting approvals or licences on fossil fuel intensive projects.  Transition 

to lower carbon economy also gives rise to opportunity for the Company’s gas production assets. Natural gas is viewed 

as a key element to supporting a sustainable energy transition. 

Physical changes caused by climate change include increased severe weather events and chronic changes to weather 

patterns which may impact demand for energy and the Company’s production assets and production capability.  These 

events could have a financial impact on the Company through increased operating costs, maintenance costs, revenue 

generation and sustainability of its production assets.   

Policy changes by governments which may result in increasing regulation and costs which could have a material impact 

on the Company’s operations.   

Due to the nature of the uncertainties relating to the above risks, the financial impact has not been quantified for the 

financial year.  

The Company is committed to continually improve climate change related disclosures as processes and understanding of 

climate change related matters improve alongside the Company's activities and operations.   

Capital Management  

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to 

sustain future development of the business. The board of directors monitors the return on capital, which the consolidated 

entity defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity. 

 30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company     78,301,982 76,016,289  
Equity     78,301,982 76,016,289  
Total Assets 2,730,293              3,580,192  
Equity ratio 3.5% 4.7% 

There were no changes in the consolidated entity’s approach to capital management during the year. As at 30 June 2025, 

neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
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28 Asset Acquisition  

 On 22 April 2025, the Group completed the acquisition 100 % of the issued capital of King Energy Limited and its 

controlled entities. King Energy Limited and its controlled entities holds a 70% interest in tenement PEL81 and PEL253 in 

South Australia. The total purchase consideration on completion of the acquisition was as follows: 

• 100,000,055 fully paid ordinary Shares in the Group 

• 100,000,043 Options in the Group 

King Energy is not considered a business under AASB 3 Business Combinations; and the acquisition is accounted for as an 

acquisition of exploration assets. 

 
Consideration: 30-Jun-25 

$  
Fair value of shares and options issued as consideration  873,640 

Non – controlling interest 374,417 

Total 1,248,057 

  

Asset/Liabilities  

Cash 6,462 

Other receivables 8,980 

Trade and other payables (490,794) 

  
  

Allocated to exploration and evaluation assets 1,723,409 
  

 
 

29 Auditors Remuneration 
  30-Jun-25 30-Jun-24 

  AUD AUD 
Fees for audit and review of the financial statements   107,298 81,035 

  107,298 81,035 

During the year UHY Haines Norton, the Company’s auditor, performed no other services in addition to their statutory 

duties. 

 

30 Commitments 

The Group has $164,150 commitments as at 30 June 2025 (FY2024: $498,625). 

 Minimum Commitments 

 
Within 1 year 

1 to 5 years After 5 
years 

Total 

30-Jun-25 164,150 - - 164,150 

30-Jun-24 292,539 206,086 - 498,625 

Lease expense during the period amounted was Nil (2024: $12,000). 
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32 Subsequent Events 

Wizard Lake  

On 17 September 2025, the Group announced that it had entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement pursuant to which 
Conflux Energy Corp acquired 100% Rex Energy Ltd and the remaining 10% Working Interest. 
 
Alinya Project 
 
On 26 August 2025, Whitebark issued 2,955,000 fully paid ordinary shares and 2,955,000 options (exercise price A$0.05, 
expiring 31 March 2030) to unrelated parties. These securities were issued in consideration for acquiring the additional 
30% interest in the Alinya Project, consistent with a prior announcement from 20 December 2024.  

 

Other than the above, no material matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which have 

significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations, results or state of affairs of the consolidated entity. 
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Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement 

Basis of Preparation 

This Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement (CEDS) has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 

and includes required information for each entity that was part of the consolidated entity as at the end of the financial 

year. 

Consolidated entity 

This CEDS includes only those entities consolidated as at the end of the financial year in accordance with AASB 10 

Consolidated Financial Statements (AASB 10). 

Determination of Tax Residency  

Section 295 (3A) of the Corporations Act 2001 defines tax residency as having the meaning in the Income Tax Assessment 

Act 1997. The determination of tax residency involves judgment as there are currently several different interpretations 

that could be adopted, and which could give rise to a different conclusion on residency.  

In determining tax residency, the consolidated entity has applied the following interpretations:  

Australian tax residency  

The consolidated entity has applied current legislation and judicial precedent, including having regard to the Tax 

Commissioner’s public guidance.  

Foreign tax residency  

Where necessary, the consolidated entity has used independent tax advisers in foreign jurisdictions to assist in its 

determination of tax residency to ensure applicable foreign tax legislation has been complied with. 

 

Name of Entity 
Country of 

incorporation 

Australian tax 
resident or 
foreign tax 

resident 

30-Jun-25 
Equity Holding 

% 

Foreign 
jurisdiction of 

foreign residents 
Subsidiaries of Whitebark Energy 
Ltd  

 
  

Tejon Energy Pty Ltd Australia Australian 100 - 
Latent Petroleum Pty Ltd Australia Australian 100 - 
Kubla Oil Pty Ltd Australia Australian 100 - 
Rex Energy Ltd Canada Foreign 100 Canada 
King Energy Ltd Australia Australian 100 - 
Officer Energy Pty Ltd Australia Australian 70 - 
Elpis Resources Pty Ltd Australia Australian 70 - 
Elpis Resources (SA) Pty Ltd Australia Australian 70 - 
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Director’s Declaration 

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Whitebark Energy Limited (Company), the Directors of the Company 

declare that:  

1. In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements and notes for the year ended 30 June 2025 are in accordance 

with the Corporations Act 2001 and:  

a. Comply with Accounting Standards, which, as stated in basis of preparation Note 2 to the financial 

statements, constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS); and  

b. Give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2025 and its performance 

for the year ended on that date;  

2. In the opinion of the Directors, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts 

as and when they become due and payable; and  

3. In the opinion of the Directors, the Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement required by subsection (3A) is true and 

correct; and  

4. The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief 

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Dated at Adelaide, 30 September 2025. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

On behalf of the Directors 

 

 

Mark Lindh  

Chairman 
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Shareholder Information  

Whitebark Energy Ltd shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. The Company’s ASX code is WBE.  

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (HOLDING NOT LESS THAN 5%) 

As at 19 September 2025: 

Rank Name Units % of Units 

1. 10 BOLIVIANOS PTY LTD 49,156,516 6.99 

    

 

Class of Shares and Voting Rights  

At 19 September 2025 there were 2,602 holders of 703,512,677ordinary fully paid shares of the Company. The 

voting rights attaching to the ordinary shares are in accordance with the Company’s Constitution being that: 

a. each Shareholder entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy, attorney or Representative; 

b. on a show of hands, every person present who is a Shareholder or a proxy, attorney or Representative 
of a shareholder has one vote; and 

c. on a poll, every person present who is a shareholder or a proxy, attorney or Representative of a 
shareholder shall, in respect of each fully paid Share held by him, or in respect of which he is appointed 
a proxy, attorney or Representative, have one vote for the Share, but in respect of partly paid Shares, 
shall, have such number of votes as bears the proportion which the paid amount (not credited) is of the 
total amounts paid and payable (excluding amounts credited). 

 

Distribution of Shareholders 

 

Spread of Holdings Number of Holders Ordinary Shares 

1 - 1,000 773 320,800 

1,001 - 5,000 689 1,831,285 

5,001 - 10,000 229 1,810,115 

10,001 - 100,000 532 20,667,637 

100,001 – 500,000 212 49,566,829 

500,001 Over 167 629,316,011 

Total 2,602 703,512,677 

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel is 2,197. 
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Unlisted Options 

 

 Securities Number of Securities 
on issue 

Number of 
Holders 

Unlisted Options exercise price of $0.03 expiring 28/03/2027 

Unlisted Options exercise price of $0.03 expiring 01/01/2027 

Unlisted Options exercise price of $0.15 expiring 30/11/2025 

Unlisted options exercisable at $0.03 expiring 01/01/2027 

Unlisted options exercisable at $0.03 expiring 01/01/2027 

Unlisted options exercisable at $0.015 expiring 15/05/2027 

Unlisted options exercisable at $0.05 expiring 31/03/2030 

 

45,000,000 

38,349,950 

600,000 

4,739,817 

41,530,833 

160,000,017 

100,000,043 
 

8 

21 

1 

82 

27 

122 

108 

 

Escrowed Securities  

The Company does not have any securities on issue that are subject to escrow restrictions.  

 

Listing of 20 Largest Shareholders as at 19 September 2025 

Rank Name Units %  Units 

1 10 BOLIVIANOS PTY LTD 49,156,516 6.99 

2 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 30,956,277 4.40 

3 PETER ANDREW PROKSA 27,692,305 3.94 

4 MS CHUNYAN NIU 21,305,420 3.03 

5 CHESSER NOMINEES PTY LTD 17,302,051 2.46 

6 MR FRANK HEPBURN 15,000,000 2.13 

7 AE ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES PTY LTD 14,929,234 2.12 

8 MARBEL CAPITAL PTY LTD 13,983,975 1.99 

9 BUDWORTH CAPITAL PTY LTD <ROLLING HILLS CAPITAL A/C> 12,911,475 1.84 

10 ACHIEVEMENT NOMINEES PTY LTD 11,608,769 1.65 

11 PARANOID ENTERPRISES PTY LTD 10,769,230 1.53 

12 MR CHAO ZHANG 10,005,893 1.42 

13 SCINTILLA STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS LIMITED 10,000,000 1.42 

14 MR MICHAEL FRANCIS MCMAHON + MRS SUSAN LESLEY MCMAHON <MCMAHON 

SUPER FUND A/C> 

9,350,000 1.33 

15 WHISTLER STREET PTY LTD <WARBURTON DISCRETIONARY A/C> 9,122,799 1.30 

16 GOTHA STREET CAPITAL PTY LTD <BLUE SKY NO 2 A/C> 8,537,012 1.21 

17 LOFTUS GROUP LIMITED 7,692,308 1.09 

18 REDTOWN ENTERPRISES PTY LTD 7,692,308 1.09 

19 GIANT SKY ASIA PACIFIC LIMITED 7,692,307 1.09 

20 MR KIM AARON MULLER 7,159,997 1.02 

TOTAL 302,867,876 43.05 
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Permits  

WIZARD LAKE, ALBERTA CANADA 

Block Gross Acres WI* Net acres 

24-048-28W4 640 10% 640 

20-048-27W4 640 10% 640 

21-048-27W4 640 10% 640 

22-048-27W4 640 10% 640 

17-048-27W4 640 10% 640 

8-048-27W4 640 10% 640 

W9-048-27W4 320 10% 320 

5-048-27W4 640 10% 640 

N 4-048-27W4 320 10% 320 

    

Total 5120 10% 5120 

*Note: As at 30 June 2025, the Company divested 90% interest in Wizard Lake assets to Conflux. On 17 September 2025, Whitebark Energy 

has executed a Sale & Purchase Agreement (SPA) with Conflux Energy Corp to sell its remaining 10% working interest in the Wizard Lake oil 

& gas assets in Alberta, Canada to Conflux. 

 

AUSTRALIAN LAND INTERESTS 

Project WBE WI Location 

Alinya  -PEL 253 4,097 Exploration Permit South Australia 

Alinya  -PEL 81 15,336 Exploration Permit South Australia 

Warro – RL7 222 sqkm 100% Western Australia 

South East Geothermal - EPG 2037 589 sqkm Exploration Permit Queensland 

Diamantina Geothermal - EPG 2049 3,875 sqkm Exploration Permit Queensland 

Jackson Geothermal - EPG 2050 1,766 sqkm Exploration Permit Queensland 

Barcoo Geothermal - EPG 2054 3,875 sqkm Exploration Permit Queensland 
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